Public Document Pack

Governance and Human Resources
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Members of Health and Wellbeing Board are summoned to a meeting, which will be held in
Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on, 20 January 2016 at 1.00 pm.
John Lynch
Head of Democratic Services
Enquiries to
Tel
E-mail
Despatched

:
:
:
:

Jonathan Moore
020 7527 3308
democracy@islington.gov.uk
12 January 2016

Membership
Councillors:
Councillor Richard Watts (Chair)
Councillor Janet Burgess MBE
Councillor Joe Caluori
Local NHS Representatives:
Simon Pleydell, The Whittington Hospital
NHS Trust
Wendy Wallace, Camden and Islington
NHS Foundation Trust
Islington Healthwatch Representative:
Emma Whitby, Islington Healthwatch

Clinical Commissioning Group Representatives:
Alison Blair, Chief Executive, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group
Martin Machray, Director - Quality & Integrated
Governance, Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Gillian Greenhough, Chair, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group
Dr. Josephine Sauvage, Joint Vice Chair (Clinical),
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Sorrel Brooks, Lay Vice-Chair, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group
NHS England Representative:
Dr Henrietta Hughes, NHS England
Officers:
Julie Billett, Joint Director of Public Health Camden
and Islington
Sean McLaughlin, Corporate Director Housing and
Adult Social Services
Cathy Blair, Interim Corporate Director Children's
Services

1

A.

Formal Matters

1.

Welcome and Introductions

2.

Apologies for Absence

3.

Declarations of Interest

Page

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the
existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes
apparent;
 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.
In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in
discussion of the item.
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak or
vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the start
of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the
discussion and vote on the item.
*(a)Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.
(b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including from
a trade union.
(c)Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and the
council.
(d)Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e)Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or
longer.
(f)Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which
you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
(g)Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of
that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.
This applies to all voting members present at the meeting.
4.

Order of Business

5.

Minutes of the previous meeting

1-6

2

B.

Discussion/Strategy items

Page

1.

A Road Map for Integrated Health and Social Care

7 - 30

2.

Smokefree Camden and Islington 2016 - 2021

31 - 92

C.

Business Items

Page

1.

Health and Work Programme - Update

93 - 102

D.

Questions from Members of the Public
To receive any questions from members of the public.

E.

Urgent Non-Exempt Matters
Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

F.

Exclusion of Press and Public
To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the agenda,
any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential
information within the terms of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972
and, if so, whether to exclude the press and public during discussion thereof.

G.

Urgent Exempt Matters
Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the
Chair and recorded in the minutes.

H.

Confidential/Exempt Items

I.

Any other business

The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be on 20 April 2016
Please note all committee agendas, reports and minutes are available on
the council's website: www.democracy.islington.gov.uk

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item A5
London Borough of Islington
Health and Wellbeing Board - Wednesday, 16 September 2015
Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at Committee Room 4, Town
Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on Wednesday, 16 September 2015 at 1.00 pm.
Present:

Also Present:

Councillors:

Richard Watts (Chair), Janet Burgess and Joe Caluori

Board Members:

Martin Machray, Director - Quality & Integrated
Governance, Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Gillian Greenhough, Chair, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group
Dr. Josephine Sauvage, Joint Vice Chair (Clinical),
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Paul Sinden, Director of Commissioning, Islington
Clinical Commissioning Group
Wendy Wallace, Chief Executive, Camden and
Islington NHS Foundation Trust
Sean McLaughlin, Corporate Director of Housing and
Adult Social Services, Islington Council
Lucy de Groot, Chair of Audit, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group
Jeni Kent, Volunteer Coordinator, Islington
Healthwatch
Charlotte Ashton, Public Health Consultant, Islington
Council
Dr Greg Battle, Medical Director for Integrated Care,
The Whittington Hospital NHS Trust

Councillor Richard Watts in the Chair

58

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS (ITEM NO. A1)
Councillor Richard Watts welcomed everyone to the meeting.

59

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. A2)
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Alison Blair, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group (substitute: Paul Sinden); Sorrel Brookes, Islington Clinical
Commissioning Group (representative: Lucy de Groot); Olav Ernstzen, Islington
Healthwatch (representative: Jeni Kent); Dr Henrietta Hughes, NHS England; Julie
Billett, Public Health (representative: Charlotte Ashton); Cathy Blair, Children’s
Services; and Simon Pleydell, The Whittington Hospital NHS Trust (representative: Dr
Greg Battle).

60

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. A3)
None.

61

ORDER OF BUSINESS (ITEM NO. A4)
No changes were proposed to the order of the agenda items.

62

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. A5)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 15 July 2015 be confirmed as a
correct record and the Chair be authorised to sign them.
1

Page 1

Health and Wellbeing Board - 16 September 2015

63

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (ITEM NO.
B1)
Charlotte Ashton introduced the updated executive summary of the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment, which included the latest evidence on health and wellbeing
needs in the borough.
The following main points were noted during the discussion:



















The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment had been updated to reflect new
evidence in relation to children’s health, the relationship between health and
employment and mental health. All evidence was available on the Islington
Evidence Hub.
The Board noted the new approach of making a ‘call for evidence’ which
provided all relevant local agencies with the opportunity to contribute to the
evidence base.
Councillor Burgess noted that the significant population increase of 9% over
the past four years described in the executive summary was based on GLA
estimates and officers were investigating the accuracy of the figures. It was
also noted that the childhood mental health evidence included comparisons to
a national survey which was around ten years old and therefore the data
should be considered in this context.
Although the Board queried the significant population increase described, it
was noted that the new figure of 224,600 was closer to the GP registered
population of 228,000, whereas there had previously been a significant
difference between the two figures. It was commented that the CCG’s own
population estimate was somewhere in between the two figures.
It was commented that the population statistics were partially based on the
estimated number of new births in new housing developments; however the
Council knew that 40% of new properties in the borough were currently empty.
It was noted that challenges arose not just from an increased population, but
from considerable churn in the private rented sector, with residents constantly
moving in and out of the borough. The result of which was that residents were
less well connected to local services than in other areas.
The Board noted the importance of encouraging new residents to register with
local GPs as population numbers had an influence on the funding available to
health services.
The Board considered the difficulties associated with carrying out a new
national child mental health survey, however noted that local agencies had a
great deal of useful local data on this topic.
The Board commented on the ‘What does this mean for Islington?’ sections of
the executive summary, suggesting that the current list-based approach could
be replaced or supplemented by a single, shorter, prioritised and action-based
list. It was thought that this would be more useful as it would help to focus
local agencies with limited financial resources on key activities. It was agreed
that a further document would be submitted to the January 2016 meeting.
The Board emphasised the need to identify ‘quick wins’ which would allow
local agencies to make a significant impact in a short time period.
To maximise the financial resources available to local agencies, it was
considered important to evaluate areas where the health and wellbeing of the
local population had improved to such an extent that specialist programmes
could be de-commissioned.
The Board concluded that it had a detailed and clear evidence base of the
health and wellbeing problems faced by local people however needed to
further consider how these problems can be prioritised and how the underlying
causes of these problems can be addressed. It was suggested that Board
2

Page 2

Health and Wellbeing Board - 16 September 2015
members could give further consideration to these issues at the informal
Health and Wellbeing workshop in November 2015.
RESOLVED:
1. That the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015/16 Executive Summary be
noted and agreed;
2. That a further action-based document setting out the priorities for local
agencies be submitted to the January 2016 meeting.

64

ISLINGTON CCG AND ISLINGTON COUNCIL COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS
FOR 2016-17 (ITEM NO. B2)
The report was presented by Sean Mclaughlin on behalf of Adult Social Care, Paul
Sinden on behalf of Islington CCG and Charlotte Ashton on behalf of Public Health.
The following main points were noted during the discussion:















It was advised that Adult Social Care would be prioritising autism and learning
disabilities in 2016/17.
The CCG’s commissioning intentions were framed in the context of local
priorities, the Five Year Forward View published by NHS England, the
recommendations of the London Health Commission, and collaboration
priorities for North Central London CCGs.
It was advised that Islington CCG needed to ensure balance between primary
care, hospital services and community care; review contracts to ensure they
are as efficient as possible; consider how to best support and incentivise
hospitals to deliver new models of care; increase both physical and mental
health; and further integrate primary and hospital care.
It was advised that Public Health would be prioritising drug and alcohol
services, sexual health services, and adult and child health improvement.
There was some concern that the report considered the commissioning
intentions of the CCG and each Council service separately; it was suggested
that further integration was required and the Board should be considering such
issues collectively.
A discussion was had on the integration of services. It was confirmed that local
agencies were coordinating commissioning intentions, with drug and alcohol
services given as an example. The Board considered that members of the
Health and Wellbeing Board were functioning well together however further
work was needed to create a unifying narrative. It was suggested that
agreeing a joint statement of strategic commissioning intentions would help to
clarify the priorities and role of all Board members. The relevant strategies of
each agency could then align to this overarching statement. It was thought that
making the links between strategies more explicit would be useful to staff,
partner organisations, the public, and NHS England.
Integration was considered vital to ensure the financial stability of local health
services. Additional joint-working agreed to through the local vanguard
application was expected to increase the pace of integration.
The need to consider services from a patient perspective, as opposed to a
provider perspective, was emphasised. This would help to identify duplication
and gaps in service provision. It was considered that local agencies had a
great knowledge of the health needs of local people and services should be
planned with these in mind, especially for those with multiple health needs.
The Board considered the NHS vanguard programme and speculated that
future NHS reforms may require further integration, including integrated
governance. Members of the Board agreed that it would be preferable to
develop an effective integrated health service locally, rather than be required
3

Page 3

Health and Wellbeing Board - 16 September 2015
to integrate in accordance with centrally prescribed models. This would allow
services to be best tailored to the needs of local people.
RESOLVED:
That the approaches to commissioning for 2016/17 be noted.

65

UPDATE ON HEALTHWATCH ISLINGTON'S WORK PLAN FOR THE CURRENT
YEAR (ITEM NO. C1)
Jeni Kent introduced the report which provided an update on the work of Healthwatch
Islington.
The following main points were noted during the discussion:





Further to Aim 1, it was advised that the report on mental health services for
young adults would be available in autumn 2015 and could be reported to a
future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Further to Aim 4, it was reported that Healthwatch had commenced gathering
the views and experiences of service users.
Further to Aim 10, it was noted that Healthwatch had met with Children’s
Services and was considering how young people could be trained to give
information on local health services to their peers.
It was suggested that the report be submitted to the Health and Care Scrutiny
Committee for consideration.

RESOLVED:
That the work plan of Healthwatch Islington be noted.

66

BETTER CARE FUND - UPDATE (ITEM NO. C2)
Paul Sinden introduced the report which detailed the progress with implementing the
Better Care Fund. Particular attention was drawn to the work to improve access to
primary care and the development of ICT systems to enable shared data and personheld records.
RESOLVED:
That the joint work being carried out to develop integrated care for local people be
noted.

67

PLANNED PROCUREMENT OF AN INTEGRATED NHS 111/OUT-OF-HOURS
SERVICE ACROSS NORTH CENTRAL LONDON (ITEM NO. C3)
Jo Sauvage and Paul Sinden introduced the report, which provided an update on the
procurement of an integrated NHS 111 and GP out-of-hours service across the North
Central London area.
The following main points were noted during the discussion:





It was advised that the procurement process had been influenced by the
feedback of service users and healthcare professionals. Although the CCGs
had received a low level of response to a public consultation survey, it was
known that many more had viewed the proposals on the CCG websites and
had not commented. Feedback had also been received through other
consultative methods.
The Board noted the proposal for the lead provider to coordinate work with
smaller local providers, including primary care clinicians and pharmacists. The
value of smaller local providers was emphasised.
It was reported that all NHS 111 and GP out-of-hours procurements nationally
had been temporarily suspended while NHS England developed national
4

Page 4

Health and Wellbeing Board - 16 September 2015





commissioning standards based around integration, collaboration, and crossboundary services. As the procurement had already incorporated these
themes the new standards were not expected to have a significant impact for
North Central London.
It was queried how a collaborative approach would be fostered and how
smaller providers would be encouraged to bid for 111 and out-of-hours work. It
was commented that market engagement events and other communications
had yielded a positive response, however ultimately local providers would
need to be satisfied with the service before they agreed to collaborate and this
is why such emphasis was given to consultation.
It was noted that Enfield CCG was the lead authority for public
communications, however all CCGs would have a role in ensuring that the
service was effectively promoted in their area.

RESOLVED:
That the proposal to procure an integrated NHS 111/out-of-hours service across
Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Haringey and Islington be noted.

68

ISLINGTON SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014-15 (ITEM
NO. C4)
Marian Harington, Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board, presented
the report which reviewed the work of the Board in the 2014-15 year.
The following main points were noted during the discussion:










Adult safeguarding boards had become statutory in April 2015 following the
implementation of the Care Act 2014.
The report set out that the Safeguarding Adults Board was fit for purpose and
that local arrangements were bedding in.
Particular attention was drawn to the new categories of abuse set out in the
Care Act, which were modern slavery, domestic abuse, financial abuse and
self-neglect. The importance of identifying abuse and sharing intelligence was
emphasised.
It was commented that 1,165 alerts had been received in 2014-15, the same
number as 2013-14. There had been an increase in the number of alerts
referred for investigation. It was thought that this was due to increased
understanding of adult safeguarding concerns resulting in more appropriate
referrals being made.
Work had taken place to raise public awareness of adult safeguarding
procedures, particularly among faith groups and BME communities.
Islington Council was congratulated for its work on processing Deprivation of
Liberty Safeguards applications.
A discussion was had on the role of local people in identifying safeguarding
concerns for vulnerable people in the community.

RESOLVED:
That the Islington Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014-15 be noted.

MEETING CLOSED AT 2.30 pm

Chair
5

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B1
Housing and Adult Social Services
7 Newington Barrow Way, London N7 7EW

Report of: Corporate Director Housing ＆ Adult Social Services
Meeting of

Date

Agenda Item

Ward(s)

Health and Wellbeing Board

20 January 2016

Item B1

All

Delete as
appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: A Road Map for Integrated Health and Social Care
1.

Synopsis

1.1

The London Borough of Islington (LBI) and Islington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) have been
progressing the development of integrated health and care services. This report provides an update to
the Health and Wellbeing Board on collaboration and progress towards greater integration, following
the vanguard bid with Haringey in early 2015 and in line with local drivers for change and national
requirements.

1.2

The report particularly focuses on of collaborative working with the Local Borough of Haringey,
Haringey CCG, Whittington Health NHS Trust and Camden and Islington Foundation Trust.

2.

Recommendations

2.2

To reflect on progress towards integration in Islington, and integration in Islington and Haringey and
proposals for next steps.

2.3

To consider and advise on:





How to embed this work within the role of the Islington Health and Wellbeing Board;
What mechanisms will ensure real time engagement and involvement;
How the governance and reporting mechanisms of the local Health and Wellbeing Board could
be modified, to take into account this collaborative work with neighbouring CCGs and local
authorities;
What the opportunities and complexities in taking this forward are;

Page 7



3.

Regularity of updates and engagement in-between Health and Wellbeing Board meetings.

Background

3.1

LBI and Islington CCG have a long history of working together to meet the health and care needs of the
population of Islington, engaging with people about how to improve services. This has included joint
commissioning from a pooled budget, health and social care professionals working together to deliver
mental health care provision and integrating community and acute care.

3.2

The role of the Health and Wellbeing Board includes oversight of the development of integrated
services and collaborative working to address the needs of our population.

3.3

In 2013 the Integrated Care Board was established with representation from Islington CCG, LBI,
Whittington Health, Camden and Islington Foundation Trust, GP leads and patient representatives.
This board undertakes work to develop and deliver effective integration in Islington with a focus both on
service implementation but also on enablers of integration such as workforce and information
technology sharing.

3.4

The CCG were awarded National Pioneer status for integration in 2013 as a first wave across England.

3.5

Significant progress has been made towards greater integration from small pilot based services to a
more comprehensive approach across commissioners and providers.

3.6

In early 2015 Islington and Haringey agreed to work together to submit a Vanguard application to
further develop integration of health and care services, including Whittington Health Trust, Camden and
Islington Foundation Trust and engaging primary care.

3.7

Following this bid our commitment to work together has continued and the Chief Executives of all
organisations have been engaged in examining what greater integration will look like and how we can
deliver this.

3.8

The appended presentation paper sets out further information on the need and options for local
integration.

4.
4.1

Implications
Financial implications
There are no financial implications as a direct result of this report.
Any plans or strategies derived or agreed in relation to this report should use existing available
resources and therefore not create a budget pressure for the Council or partner organisations.

4.2

Legal Implications
The Five Year Forward View” published by NHS England in October 2014 addresses the changes the
NHS will be making to facilitate an upgrade in prevention and public health.
There are a number of legislative provisions which enable local authorities and the NHS to work
together. These include provisions set out in the National Health Service Act 2006, the Health and
Social Care Act 2012 and the Care Act 2014.
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (“the 2012 Act “) sets out changes to the way NHS care is
commissioned and gives providers freedom to improve the quality of care. It also gives local authorities
responsibilities for public health. Section 12 of the 2012 Act inserts a new 2B into the National Health

Page 8

Service Act 2006, (the 2006 Act) subsection 1 which places a duty on local authorities to take such
steps as it considers appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area.
Section 75 of the 2006 Act allows money to be pooled between health bodies and health-related local
authority services. The arrangements in section 75 allow commissioning for existing or new services,
as well as the development of provider arrangement to be joined–up. The arrangements cover lead
commissioning, integrated provision and pooled budgets.
Part 1 of the Care Act 2014 (“2014 Act”) sets out a single legal framework for the provision of adult
social care. Section 3 of the 2014 Act imposes a duty on local authorities to exercise it functions
under Part 1 with a view to ensuring integration of care and support provision with health provision and
health related provision where it would (a) promote the wellbeing of adults in its area with needs for
care and support and the wellbeing of carers in its area; (b) contribute to the prevention or delay of the
development by adults in its area of needs for care and support or the development by carers in its
area for care and support, or (c) improve the quality of care and support for adults, and of support for
carers, provided in its area.
Sections 6 and 7 of the Care Act require a local authority to co-operate with each of its relevant
partners and for each relevant partner to cooperate with the local authority in the exercise of their
respective functions relating to adults with needs for care and support and carers. Relevant partners
include other local authorities and NHS bodies in the authority’s area (section 6(7)). The reference to
NHS bodies in these provisions is a reference to the National Health Service Commissioning Board so
far as its functions are exercisable in relation to the authority’s area. A clinical commissioning group
the whole or part of whose area is in the authority’s area, or an NHS Trust or NHS Foundation trust
which provides services in the authority’s area.
4.3

Resident Impact Assessment:
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster good
relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it
(section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or
minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled
persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due
regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment has not been completed because this work brings together different
streams of work rather than being a new project. Equality Impact Assessments and public engagement
have been undertaken for all integrated services that have been implemented and will continue to be
part of this process.
The proposals outlined in this report should have an overall positive impact for the residents of Islington
in that there will be greater integration and coordination between health and social care services
leading to better outcomes for individuals and their carers using these services. There should be no
adverse impact as residents will experience a more seamless response. Public and patient
engagement and co-production have been key to developing and commissioning services such as the
Diabetes Value Based Commissioning model and will continue to be so.

4.4

Environmental Implications:
There are no significant environmental impacts associated with this report. More generally, the
integration of services usually offers opportunities for reducing environmental impacts by combining

Page 9

systems and reducing duplication. However, the potential for unintended consequences (e.g. increased
travelling by centralised teams) should be considered at all stages.

5.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations
This paper is designed to provide an update to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the progress and
future roadmap for integrated care in Islington and Islington and Haringey. The Health and Wellbeing
Board are asked to provide advice concerning the discussion points posed in this paper and the
appendix in order to support and facilitate next steps.

Background papers: None
Attachments: Presentation Paper – A Road Map for Integrated Health and Social Care
Final Report Clearance

Signed by
Corporate Director Housing ＆ Adult Social Services

12 January 2016
…………………..
Date

…………………………………………………………….
Head of Democratic Services

12 January 2016
………………….
Date

……………………………………………….

Received by

Report author: Sophie Donnellan, Associate Director – Strategic Commissioning and Planning, Islington CCG
Tel:
020 3688 2922
E-mail:
sophie.donnellan@nhs.net

Page 10

Page 11

A Roadmap for Integrated Health
and Social Care
Health and Wellbeing Board

Wednesday 20 January 2016

1

Content
1. The Islington Vision

Page 12

2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

What have we achieved so far?
The scale of the challenge and drivers for change
How can we meet this challenge?
Local Collaboration and learning from others
Issues, Risks and Opportunities
Components and Principles of Integrated Care
Programme Governance and next steps
Discussion points for the Health and Wellbeing Board

2

Islington Vision
Working together to deliver better care with the people of Islington
1 of the first 14 CCGs awarded National Pioneer Status in 2013
We have been at the forefront of designing and developing integrated care in order to meet the needs of our local population.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible and is the overall lead in the System for developing integration strategy.

Page 13

Islington Integrated Care Board (established 2013)
The Integrated Care Board holds responsibility for operational planning and development of integrated services within the
borough.

Representation includes:
• Islington CCG and General Practice
• Local Authority and Health Watch
• Whittington Health NHS Trust,
• Camden and Islington Foundation Trust,
• User / patient representatives

All programmes are aligned to 4 main outcomes:
1. An improved patient / user experience
2. Improved health and care outcomes for our local
population
3. A sustainable health and care system
4. A system that can manage growing demand
3

What have we already achieved?
Employment
Health &
Wellbeing
(LA & CCG,
CIFT)

Ambulatory
Care
(Whittington
& GPs)

Page 14

N19
(Islington
LA & GPs)

Mental Health and
Social Care
(Islington & Camden
CCGs, LAs, CIFT)

Integrated Digital
Care Record IDCR
(All)

Primary Care
Mental
Health Team
(CIFT & GPs)

Locality
Navigators
(Age UK with
all)

Locality
Networks
(Islington CCG,
LA, GPs &
Whittington)

We have already
achieved a lot.
How can we build
on these and fill in
the gaps?

Moving towards
structural aspects
of integration

Moving away from pilots towards a new comprehensive approach

Joint
Commissioning
(Islington CCG &
LA)

Integrated
Community
Ageing Team
(Whittington,
Care Homes &
CIFT)

Parental
Mental
Health Offer
(CIFT, LA,
Whittington)

I-Hub
(GPs,
Whittington
& Islington
CCG)

Workforce
Partnership
Approach
(CEPNs,
providers, CCG
& LA)

Self
management
Care planning
Patient
activation &
outcome
measures

Value Based
Commissioning –
Diabetes, Psychosis
(Frail Elderly)
(Islington & Haringey
CCGs, LAs,
Whittington & CIFT)

Primary Care
Drugs and
Alcohol Team
(CIFT & GPs)

4

Islington and Haringey – Working together
The Sponsor Board
Islington CCG, Islington LA, Haringey CCG, Haringey Council, Whittington Health and Camden and Islington Foundation Trust have
agreed to pursue service delivery improvements achievable through integration:

Page 15

“We are aiming for a population based model that links Whittington Health, our ICO, with our patients, voluntary
and community organisations, mental health services, social care and primary care services, in one seamless
system. The model will be driven by our local communities and primary care, with a strong focus on prevention
aligned to population based outcomes.” (Vanguard proposal Feb 2015)
We have:
•

A shared commitment to improve outcomes of care and maximise the efficiency of services, both individually and together.

•

Experience to date that has already demonstrated the benefit of delivering more holistic and integrated care centred on the
individual.

•

Our service users frequently say they want better coordinated care and for professionals to support them as a whole person.

•

A clear understanding that this commitment does not preclude the continuation of our positive relationships and working
arrangements with other boroughs or further development of these now and in the future.
5

Work In Progress - The Challenge for Islington
Age
group

<16*

Mostly healthy

£29,662

Page 16

£744

£2,786
3,296

TOTAL

£9,184

£802

Cancer

Learning
disability

SMI

£26,178
96
£4,972
6,587

£2,871
3,415

£9,805

£32,749

£7,708
5,638

£2,435

£43,456

£6,234

186,031 £149,243 19,931 £48,530 12,225 £76,206

Dementia

Total

£1,531
£2,513

£2,345

148,350 £110,397 16,516 £38,725
70+

Multiple long
term conditions

£863
34,385

16-69

One long term
condition

102

£10,008
682

£6,825

£21,562
403

£8,690

£14,299
1,085

£935

£15,515

£10,234
2,665

£27,274

£15,470
336

£5,198

£10,820
3,001

£32,472

£156
£49,694
687

£34,140

£22,564
42

£948

£48,131
729

£35,087

34,583

£8,140
78

£1,428
£635

175,565

£20,328
721

£14,657

£15,292

£250,745

£6,638
13,851

£19,138
799

£32,331

£91,937

£1,674
223,999

£375,013

Sources: Islington's GP PH Dataset, 2012; NOMIS, 2015; Estimated costs from Monitor’s Ready Reckoner tool, 2015
Notes: Figures on children with long term conditions are not comprehensive, so should be treated with caution. Severe physical disabilities could not be included in the model, due to the
difference in data source. Costs of patients who are socially excluded are not available, due to the nature of the group.

KEY

Cost per person
Number of people

Cost of segment (in
£1000s)

Population segments and cost estimates if all people
in segments were treated (health and social care)
6

Work in Progress - Population Risk Stratification
Risk stratification models
can be used to stratify the
population by predicting the
probability of a significant
event.

Page 17

The most common event
that these tools predict is
that of an Emergency
admission in the next year.
Understanding who is in
each risk strata enables an
understanding of their
requirements from the
health and care system as a
whole.
NB figure is illustrative of
concept – Islington in
process of developing a
local picture
7

Work in Progress - Islington and Haringey Financial position
The annual spend on health and care for Islington and
Haringey, within our local care system, in 2014/15 was:

Haringey

Total

Year

Percentage Reduction

£505 million

£492.5 million

£997.5 million

2015/16

6.6%

2016/17

5.9%

2017/18

5.5%

Total

12.2%

Page 18

Islington

This total spend includes:
• Total spend for Islington and Haringey CCGs
• Total spend for Islington and Haringey Local Authorities on both
adult and child services
• NHS England spend on primary care in Islington and Haringey
Exclusions are:
• NHS England Specialist Commissioning Spend
• Primary care dental or ophthalmology spend
• Research and deanery funding / investment
•
•
•

Indicative Financial Reductions required in the next 2-3 years:

These indicative figures for 2015/16 to 2017/18 include:
• Anticipated QIPP requirements for Islington and Haringey CCGs
• Anticipated savings required by Islington and Haringey LAs (20%)
• NHS provider cost improvement plans and cost pressures for
Whittington Health, UCLH, North Middlesex and Royal Free (excluding
Mental Health providers)

These indicative figures were calculated based on information available November 2015.
This financial information will be updated during January 2016 as commissioner, provider and local authority financial forecasts are further
developed in line with national planning guidance and allocations – it is expected that the challenge will increase in line with the NCL wide
increased financial challenge.
The required financial reductions are expected to continue to decrease to 2020/21 in line with planning for the next five years.
8

Our integration work fits with National Drivers

Page 19

Policy

Enablers

Five Year Forward View

New models of Care

The Care Act

Right Care and Value Based
Commissioning

Prevention Focus

Pioneers and Vanguard
Mental Health Parity of Esteem

Mental Health Tariff
Financial Balance
National Planning Guidance

Sustainability and Transformation
Plans

Devolution
Better Care Fund

London Health Programmes
Comprehensive Spending Review

Central Transformation Fund

Outcomes
Improved Public Health and
Wellbeing

Holistic care achieving individual
Person Centred Outcomes
Transformational Change delivering
Financial Sustainability

Greater health and care system wide
Value
Collaboration to deliver coordinated,
quality care to patients and carers
Greater local autonomy and
engagement to meet local needs
9

National Requirements
‘Delivering the Forward View: National Planning Guidance 2016/17 – 2020/21’

Comprehensive Spending Review

Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 2016/17 – 2020/21
A five year place-based plan for North Central London (NCL) footprint which is:

Integration of health and social care
by 2020/21;

•

An integrated system wide plan to deliver transformational change, improve quality and safety and
achieve system wide financial balance;

•

NHSE spending to increase by £8
billion (real terms) by 2020/21;

•

To be agreed and developed across CCG commissioners, NHS providers incl. primary and specialised
care, Local Authorities incl. social care, prevention, the third sector and public, patients and carers;

•

The cut to local authority core
funding is now estimated at -24%;

•

To demonstrate an ambitious and clear vision, established robust partnerships, leadership and
governance, programme planning of milestones and implementation actions to deliver to these.

•

Councils given a new ability to raise a
2% council tax ‘precept’, ring-fenced
for adult social care, (an estimated
£1.5m in Islington in 2016-17);

Page 20

•

•

Maintaining the Better Care Fund at
current mandated levels, from 2017
this will increase by £1.5 billion by
2019-20;

•

Additional £600 million to be made
available for mental health care;

•

No protection for public health,
which will see a -3.9% real terms cut
over the next five years.

Operational Plan 2016/17
Detailed CCG plan for 2016/17, demonstrating delivery as year one of the STP, the Five Year Forward
View, NHS Mandate, NHS Constitution milestones as incorporated within national priorities and nine
‘must dos’;
•

Reconciled finance and activity for 2016/17 jointly with provider plans in line with contracts;

Funding 2016/17 onwards
•

Increased funding aligned to national priorities and planning guidance; A Central Transformation
Fund; funding for provider deficit, extra uplifts for primary, specialised and mental health care;

•

To benefit from central transformation funds it is essential for us to demonstrate system wide
transformational plans with clear leadership and deliverables.
10

North Central London Collaboration
Since April 2015, the 5 CCGs in North Central London (NCL) have been working on a plan for collaboration
This work identified a cumulative ‘do-nothing ’ financial challenge of £891m to 2019/20 (for the CCGs, social care and the four
acute trusts). This is currently being developed further.
We do not plan to ‘do-nothing’.
Improving health and care outcomes for our population is essential and collaboration can help us to address this.

Page 21

NCL are now working collaboratively to target savings and improve outcomes in the following four areas as priorities:
1. Transforming urgent and emergency care
2. Transforming care for those with severe and enduring mental illness (SEMI)
3. Primary care transformation: developing an enhanced offer for primary care
4. Optimising use of the estate
North Central London have successfully secured support for piloting devolution of estates
This will be the first of its kind and will enable us to work as a whole system, examining and establishing the benefits that estate
devolution could bring. This could establish how collaborative planning and utilisation of estate could deliver significant benefits
• Improving use of resource, including provision of new housing;
• Joining up delivery of integrated health and care services, potentially linking to schools, leisure, employment and others;
• Improving the environment and its impact on population wellbeing;
This could be a powerful enabler to the delivery of integrated health and social care alongside integration with other public
services, housing provision, employment opportunities and more
11

Local Collaboration
To truly deliver integration we are collaborating at various other local levels as outlined in our achievements so far. We need to
establish how work together across:

Page 22

•
•
•

Different segments of the
population
Based on needs
Based on risk stratification
Based on improving equality

Different elements of our system
• Physical and Mental Health
• Social Care and Health
• Housing, drugs and alcohol,
employment and the wider
system
• Primary, secondary and tertiary
care

Different Geographical Footprints
• Geographically small locality
areas
• Islington level / Borough level
• Islington and Camden
• Islington and Haringey

Through the development of the Vanguard bid in February 2015 it was agreed that there was a benefit in us working across
Islington and Haringey to deliver integration.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Members of the Sponsor Board
Islington Local Authority
Islington CCG
Haringey LA
Haringey CCG
Whittington Health NHS Trust
Camden and islington NHS Foundation Trust

Transformation Retreat – November 2015
• All organisations on the Sponsor Board
• Health Watch
• Other providers; North Middlesex Hospital
Trust, University College London Hospitals Trust,
Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Trust, GP
Federations, Age UK
12

Organisational Forms to deliver a model of care
Potential system models include an Accountable Care Organisations (ACOs), where responsibility for health and care from prevention
to acute / in-patient care is provided by a consortium of partners or a single organisation. Another example would be a looser
alliance of providers, funded to work together to achieve outcomes e.g. Value Based Commissioning (Diabetes, Psychosis, Frailty)
and Lead provider model for advocacy.

In order to develop a model that delivers to the needs of our population we need to learn from others but also assess what would
deliver the most effective solution for Islington and Islington and Haringey.

Page 23

Northumberland ACO

•
•
•
•
•

Establishing a Special
purpose vehicle
organisation (VPC)
Will hold the CCG
budget and primary
care budget
Joint governance
includes foundation
trust
Prioritises population
health needs and out
of hospital care
Starting April 2017

Salford Together
•

•

•

•

Vanguard to create an Integrated
Care Organisation (ICO)
Includes CCG, Council, Acute
trust, Mental health trust,
working with GP provider
consortium
Salford Royal lead responsibility
to meet health and social care
needs of the population – direct
service delivery and contracts
with others
Adult social care and mental
health service to transfer to the
trust 2016/17

Mid Nottinghamshire Better
Together
•
•

•

NHS providers developing a
formal alliance (horizontal
integration)
To deliver primary,
community, acute, mental
health and social care within
a single outcomes-based
capitation contract
Undertaking a most capable
provider commissioner
process with provider
alliance capability
assessment process

Barking & Dagenham,
Havering and Redbridge
•

•
•

•

Joint proposal to run a
devolved health and social
care budget – Integrated Care
Coalition (ICC)
Three local boroughs, CCGs,
acute and mental health trust
Deliver greater focus on
prevention, primary care,
integration with social care,
housing, education and
public health
3 year development plan to
13
full delivery

Issues, Risks and Opportunities for Integrated Care
Integration is not an objective or end point in itself. It is a tool / model that we can utilise and develop locally when and where this
will be of benefit to the health and wellbeing of our population. Any models of integration need to improve the quality, capacity
and sustainability of the services we provide and engage and empower people in Islington in managing their own health and care.

Page 24

•
•
•
•

•

Issues to consider
Separate legal entities are
currently commissioning care.
This will not be a one model final
solution but a continual process
of development and change.
NCL Sustainability &
Transformation Plan and ensuring
a pragmatic response to this.
Ensuring a fit from the very local
to one which supports and
benefits from North Central
London and London wide
collaboration.
The engagement of primary care
through Federations

•
•

•

•
•

Risks to be aware of
Current separation of funding
arrangements and mechanism.
Requires a significant cultural
change across all organisations,
including staff and population
behavioural change.
There have been significant
failures in integration models
developed elsewhere and we
need to avoid similar pitfalls.
Ability to deliver effectively to a
plan through separate
organisations.
The provider market environment
and galvanising joint working.

•
•

•
•

•
•

Opportunities
To develop a locally designed
model rather than implement a
model designed elsewhere.
Ability to bid early for national
transformation funding.
Delivery of the benefits of
integration, both improving
outcomes and value for money.
Working with wider system
partners in Islington such as Fire,
Education and others.
Further development of clinical
and service user leadership.
Enable a targeted approach to
supporting our residents to
achieve a better quality of life.14

Components of Integrated Care
Our progress to date

An agreed vision of delivering care that offers better value for local people

Agreed in our Vanguard application at a high level

Population approach to planning and delivering integrated care

In development through risk stratification approach (by May 2016)

Outcomes based models of commissioning that improve quality and safety;
prevent illness and improve the health wellbeing of our local population

VBC Diabetes (April 2016), VBC Psychosis (2016/17), Review wider application (by
April 2016)

A financially sustainable model with aligned incentives and payments
including population based budgets

Current progress through joint commissioning and Better Care Fund and further
development within the STP (by June 2016)

A collaborative, flexible, innovative, delivery-focussed culture

Engagement and organisational development programme (2016/17)

Strong clinical leadership

The 1st Clinical and Professional Integration Workshop (29 Jan 2016) working with
our already established clinical leads across Islington and Haringey

Page 25

Our Components of Integrated Care

Community engagement and patient involvement

We already have a clear focus on engagement and co-production and this will
continue to be essential to this development

Clear governance arrangements

Review governance to meet the needs of the programme and align with current
governing structures including the HWBB, Integrated Care Board and Sponsor Board
with clear roles and responsibilities (by June 2016)

A form which brings together constituent providers in a common purpose

Options development in line with priority areas for integration, outcomes and
deliverables (2016/17)

Shared IT and information

Contract signed for our Integrated Digital Care Record (IDCR) and implementation
started in Islington

A workforce enabled and empowered to deliver integrated care across
health and social care

Islington Community Education Provider Network (CEPN) - 2014. A collaborative of
health and social care organisations developing educational opportunities, skills and
role development, to establish a workforce to deliver integrated care. Working
jointly with Haringey CEPN where this delivers benefits across boroughs.
15

Sponsor Board Integration Principles
The Sponsor Board proposed they would work to the following principles in the progression this work. We will;

Page 26

• Build on what Islington and Haringey have already been developing through Value Based Commissioning (VBC), the
benefits achieved through this and extrapolate this further.
• Explore those areas where we can deliver better outcomes for people by working together rather than apart.
• Address the specific needs of the Islington and Haringey population and create ways of working together to deliver
holistic health and social care.
• Establish ways of delivering better outcomes and more integrated pathways of care, building on formats and
mechanisms we already have in place e.g. sections 75s.
• Create ways of working together to deliver a sustainable health and care system.
• Focus on delivery first and look to organisational forms that may help us to do this as this becomes necessary.
• Look for opportunities for funding transformational change wherever this may be available and it fits with the aims
of the new model of care.
• Examine whether an alternative governance arrangement and/or piloting a model of ‘devolution’ may support our
delivery of integrated, outcomes based health and care.
16

Programme / Governance Structure
General Principles
Health and Wellbeing Board undertaking a role to oversee the programme – To be discussed further as outlined on the final
slide

•

Informed involvement across all constituent organisations through Governing Bodies and Boards – Ensuring agreement of
strategic vision for Islington

•

Clinical leadership - Any new model will need to be co-produced with and owned by clinicians to guarantee success. Strong
clinical oversight will also be required to ensure safe and robust system design. It is therefore recommended that all levels of the
programme structure should have clinical representation where possible.

Page 27

•

•

Co-production and public engagement - Service user ownership and support is also an essential component of any new
model’s success and therefore all opportunities for co-production with service users and our population should be explored to
guarantee a sustainable and bottom up model.

•

Robust programme management arrangements including an core executive committee and project management group responsible for delivering programme activity, delivery and evaluation of progress.

•

Work stream groups focusing on our priority areas – To be established to build on our achievements to date, examination of
risk within different population segments and priority areas for improvement such as the Integrated Digital Care Record.

•

Making good use of resources – across both borough’s programme structures; governance arrangements and reference groups
exist with a variety of purposes; expertise and resources. Wherever these existing forums and resources can be utilised for the
purpose of this work they should be to ensure good use of resource to prevent unnecessary bureaucracy.
17

Timeline for Delivery – Next Steps
2015/16
JAN 2016
Clinical and Professional
Integration Workshop

Page 28

NOV 2015
Transformation
Workshop

2016/17

APR 2016
Value Based
Commissioning
Diabetes & Psychosis

MAR / APR 2016
Update to Health
& Wellbeing
Boards

2017/18

2018/19

2016/17
Public and patient
engagement

JUN 2016
Programme
Governance
established

MAR / APR 2017
Options for form of
Integration model

Towards New Models of Care for Health, Care and Support in Haringey and Islington

FEB 2015
Vanguard
Bid

FEB / MAR 2016
Further
collaboration
meetings
JAN / FEB 2016
Update to the Health
& Wellbeing Boards

JUN 2016
Financial
model and
NCL STP
submission

APR 2016
Operational Plan
submission

2016/17
Organisational
Development
Programme

2016/17
Priority setting
& development

Agreement of a more detailed roadmap
with key milestones & decision points will
need additional development.

18

Health and Wellbeing Board – Discussion Points
1. How should the role of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) be embedded in this work?

2. What are the mechanisms that will ensure real time engagement and involvement?
Page 29

3. How should the governance and reporting mechanisms of the HWBB be modified, to take account of this
collaborative work with neighbouring CCGs and Local Authorities?

4. What are the opportunities and complexities in taking this forward?

5. Do the HWBB wish to receive updates in-between Board meetings?
19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B2
Public Health
222 Upper Street, London N1 1XR

Report of:

Director of Public Health

Meeting of

Date

Agenda Item

Ward(s)

Health and Wellbeing Board

20 January 2016

Item B2

All

Delete as
appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Smokefree Camden and Islington 2016 – 2021
1. Synopsis
1.1 Camden and Islington’s Smokefree Strategy 2016 – 2021 sets out three strategic ambitions and a broad
set of recommendations in order to decrease smoking prevalence (from approximately 22% in Islington at
present) to 16% over the next five years and to reduce smoking related harms in both boroughs. It is part
of a step-wise approach to achieving smokefree boroughs (defined as smoking prevalence <5%) by 2030.
The three strategic objectives are: (1) closing the gateways in; (2) helping people out and (3) reducing
related harm.
1.2 This paper seeks endorsement from the Health and Wellbeing Board for the Strategy and its
recommendations. Specific recommendations that the Board could champion and lend particular support
to are:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Working towards all resident-facing staff having training in Level 1 Very Brief Advice (Ask, Advise, Act)
Including stop smoking support within workplace wellbeing programmes for staff
A coordinated approach to preventing and tackling smoking in children and young people
Mainstreaming stop smoking-related activity across commissioned NHS secondary care services
Broadening the scope of smokefree environments in Islington.

1.3 The Board is invited to help champion the Strategy’s recommendations in order to bring about a systemwide response focused on helping Islington become smokefree by 2030.

Page 31

2. Recommendations
The Board is asked to:

1. Endorse and champion the Strategy and its ambition for Islington to be smokefree by 2030.
2. Consider and discuss the specific recommendations identified in this paper which provide an
opportunity for the Board and its constituent members to help drive forward the Strategy.

3. Consider what other actions, interventions or support the Board could provide in order to shape the
development of the Smokefree Delivery Plan in support of Islington becoming a smokefree borough
by 2030.

3. Background
3.1 Why develop a strategy?
Smoking still matters in Islington because it remains the single biggest preventable risk factor for poor
health and premature death. While prevalence has fallen since the early 2000s, in the last few years, rates
of smoking have remained stubbornly stable in Islington in particular. Nicotine addiction through smoking
is a long-term condition which starts in childhood and drives health inequalities. Tackling smoking in
families and children is part of establishing a good start in life.
3.2 Smoking disproportionately affects those who are already often disadvantaged – tobacco-related harm is
greatest in our less affluent communities, BME communities, people with mental health conditions and
prisoners. Smoking also has wider societal impacts, for example, impacting criminal activity through
illegal tobacco sales, on employers through sickness absence and productivity and the cost of cleaning up
the environment.
3.3 There has been much good work to address smoking in Islington over many years. Particular successes
in Islington include: smoking quit rates per 100,000 smokers above the London average for many years;
schools routinely embedding smokefree messages in personal, social and health education (PHSE)
teaching and as part of the Healthy Schools programme; successful enforcement activities tackling illegal
and underage tobacco sales and shisha; being an early adopter of smokefree playgrounds; Whittington
Health routinely offering inpatient nicotine replacement therapy and Camden and Islington Foundation
Trust being one of the first mental health trusts in the country to become smokefree.
3.4 However, despite these successes, key smoking- related indicators1 are worsening for Islington in
comparison to the rest of London. Islington has the:





Highest prevalence smoking in London (tied with Hammersmith & Fulham) - 22.2% of Islington
adults smoke compared to London (17.0%) and England (18.0%).
Highest proportion of routine and manual workers who are smokers in London - 41.1% (Highlighting
that smoking is associated with deprivation and lower socioeconomic status and drives health
inequality).
Highest rate of smoking-attributable hospital admissions in London (2,534 per 100,000 population in
Islington vs 1,606 per 100,000 in London), which are essentially, all preventable.
3rd highest borough for smoking-related mortality in London. There are approximately 225 smokingrelated deaths each year in Islington.

1

PHE. Local Tobacco Control Profiles. (2013-14 data)Available at: http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/tobaccocontrol#page/0/gid/1938132885/pat/6/par/E12000007/ati/102/are/E09000019

Page 32

3.5 In short, smoking comes at great cost to both the individual, to society and to the public sector. It is
estimated that, annually, in Islington, smoking costs the NHS £7million and Adult Social Care a further
£3million2. It is clear that more needs to be done to address the challenge of tobacco-related harms which
is why the Health and Wellbeing Board is being called on to champion the ambition for Islington to be
smokefree (i.e. smoking prevalence <5%) by 2030.
3.6 How has the Strategy been developed?
Following the first ever joint Camden and Islington Tobacco Control Summit in February 2014, the Joint
Camden and Islington Smokefree Alliance (CISA) was formed, building on many years of good work of the
Islington’s Smokefree Alliance and its five year strategy which expired in 2015. Membership of the CISA
includes both councils – with representation from Public Health, Environmental Health, Trading Standards
and School Improvement Services, the Stop Smoking providers in both boroughs, NHS secondary care
clinicians, as well as most recently, both Clinical Commissioning Groups. The Alliance has developed this
new strategy for the next five years, developed in consultation with its members and a wider array of
stakeholders across both boroughs as part of its step-wise approach to achieving smokefree boroughs by
2030.
3.7 What does it say?
The Strategy sets out three strategic objectives and a comprehensive range of recommendations from
partners for the next five years in order to decrease smoking prevalence and reduce smoking related
harms in both boroughs. The strategic objectives are:
1. Closing the gateways in: Educating young people and families about the harms of tobacco
smoking and the risks of shisha use, to help young people choose not to smoke.
2. Helping people out: Providing effective support for smokers to quit that reaches those most at
risk of poor health or health inequality to change their smoking behaviours. Looking to the future,
this includes harnessing the potential of electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes). This includes working
more closely with the NHS, adult social care and employers.
3. Reducing related harm: Ensuring that families are aware of the dangers of exposure to secondhand smoke; achieving a cleaner environment and disrupting illegal sales.
3.8 Particular priorities:
The Strategy recognises that most people become addicted to smoking tobacco whilst they are young.
Therefore, we need to focus much of our energy on promoting a smoke-free start in life and childhood. In
addition, smoking does not affect communities fairly – those who are poorer or come from certain minority
groups are more likely to smoke and therefore can be affected disproportionately by the negative effects
of smoking. Finally, our healthcare partners are often uniquely positioned to influence and encourage
smokers to quit; supporting and invigorating clinicians for this challenge needs to be a key component of
the approach going forward. Islington CCG’s recent appointment of a GP clinical lead for smoking is a
very welcome and positive step towards engaging primary care clinicians.
3.9 The Strategy is attached as Appendix 1.

4. Where could Islington Health and Wellbeing Board have most strategic influence for a
smokefree Islington?
4.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is uniquely placed as the system leader for health and care in Islington to
shape both the culture and activity of each of the key stakeholders in the smokefree agenda, including
2

ASH Toolkit. Local Costs of Smoking. 2015.

Page 33

providers and commissioners of health and care services.
As such, there are a number of
recommendations within the Strategy that fit well with the Board’s direct realm of influence. In addition,
becoming smokefree is a challenge for the borough as a whole and a broader array of stakeholders have
their part to play, beyond health and social care - these include environmental services, the London Fire
Brigade, housing providers and the voluntary and community sector. The Board has an opportunity to
provide leadership across the borough as a whole.
4.2 The draft strategy was developed in conjunction with Smokefree Alliance partners and has also been
widely circulated to stakeholders in both CCGs, local NHS providers, across both councils and through a
recent online engagement activity with the public. It has been widely welcomed. A common theme to
comments has been to highlight the need for a robust delivery plan given the scale of the challenge of
smoking and its significance to the health and wellbeing of the population. Further to discussion and
hopefully endorsement of the Strategy by key stakeholders, and by the Islington Health and Wellbeing
Board in particular, the Alliance plans to develop a more detailed delivery plan with key actions,
milestones and outcome measures, as the basis for tracking progress with delivery.
4.3 The Strategy sets out a number of recommendations directed towards a range of system partners and
stakeholders, recognising the broad influences on smoking prevalence within the borough. The Board
has a key role to play as an overall champion for the Strategy and for the ambition of becoming a
smokefree borough by 2030.
4.4 More specific recommendations that the Board is invited to discuss and lend particular support to are:
a. Working towards all resident-facing staff having training in Level 1 Very Brief Advice (Ask,
Advise, Act): The Board as a whole, and the organisations that its constituent members represent, are
recommended to work towards ensuring that all staff who are in contact with residents, patients and
clients know how to ask about people’s smoking status and then signpost to appropriate stop smoking
services. Training could be prioritised and phased in for those staff who have most contact with
residents who smoke, are heavy smokers or those most vulnerable to tobacco-related harms. This
might include staff working in housing, working with people with mental health conditions or children
and family-related services, as well as those health and care professionals who are working with
residents already suffering tobacco-related harm.
b. Workplace wellbeing for staff: The Board and its constituent members could demonstrate visible
support for the ambition of becoming a smokefree borough by ensuring support for stop smoking is
embedded within their workplace/employee wellbeing programmes (thus reducing related sickness
absences and improving productivity). A supportive approach to workplace wellbeing can be
particularly effective in helping staff members to quit. We also know that lower paid health and care
staff in particular, who are more likely to smoke, are often those who have the most contact with
residents. Helping lower paid staff to quit may therefore have an indirect positive impact on the
likelihood of their patients/clients quitting, as well as to their own health and wellbeing.
c. A coordinated approach to preventing and tackling smoking in children and young people: The
Board is asked to endorse and champion a coordinated approach to preventing and tackling smoking
in childhood. This requires a multi-pronged approach that calls on colleagues providing health and
social care services to children and young people and their families, and staff working in early years,
schools and other educational settings as well as enforcement, environment and housing services to
work together. We know that smoking is a lifelong addiction that starts in childhood, is heavily
influenced by parental and household smoking and disproportionately affects the most disadvantaged
children and young people.

Page 34

d. Working towards mainstreaming stop smoking-related activity across commissioned NHS
secondary care services: These include in particular, but are not restricted to, paediatric, maternity,
mental health, cardiovascular, respiratory, surgical and diabetes services commissioning where there is
clear evidence that smoking damages health and impairs clinical outcomes (increased complication
rates, increased length of stay, reduced effectiveness of interventions). It is recommended that stop
smoking advice and support embedded within clinical pathways and settings also includes appropriate
provision of smoking cessation-related pharmacotherapy in line with clinical guidance. Approaches to
mainstreaming cessation-related activity might include use of standard wording in service specifications
to encourage routine adoption of the current NICE guidance on smoking cessation in secondary care,
ensuring training of relevant staff and establishing clear and robust referral pathways into community
stop smoking services for smokers identified (and who have potentially set a quit date) through
secondary care services.
e. Broadening the scope of smokefree environments in Islington: There are opportunities to explore
the broader provision/designation of additional smoke-free areas in the borough. For example, the
introduction of smokefree playgrounds in Islington was successful through the overwhelming support of
the public – from both people who smoked and those who did not. The Board is invited to consider
exploring and developing other opportunities for implementing smokefree areas, supported by the
public, such as around the entrances to NHS and council-owned premises.

5. Next Steps
5.1 The Camden and Islington Smokefree Alliance will develop a robust delivery plan to support
implementation of the Strategy.

6. Implications
6.1 Financial implications
There are no financial implications arising as a direct result of this report. Any plans or strategies derived
or agreed in relation to this report should use existing available resources and therefore not create a
budget pressure for the council or partner organisations.
6.2 Legal Implications
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 provides the legal framework for council’s duties in respect of its
public health functions. Councils have a duty to take appropriate steps to improve health outcomes of
people in their boroughs (section 2B NHS Act 2006, inserted by section 12 of the Health And Social Care
Act 2012). This includes taking such steps in order to control smoking. The Strategy will support the
council’s legal responsibility for the delivery of public health.
6.3 Environmental Implications
The environmental implications for reduced smoking in the borough are positive. In Islington cigarette
butts are the most common form of litter, with an estimated annual street cleaning bill of £3.5 million. In
addition to the nuisance aspect, leachate from butts contains several toxic products that cause damage to
biodiversity.
6.4 Resident Impact Assessment
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between
those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality
Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages,
take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and

Page 35

encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle
prejudice and promote understanding.
A Resident Impact Assessment will be completed when the Delivery Plan is developed. Smoking
disproportionately affects people in more socio-economically disadvantaged groups including routine and
manual workers, most BME communities and people with mental health problems and as such, we would
expect that this report and the approach and actions it proposes should have a positive impact on
inequality.

7. Conclusion and recommendations
7.1 The Smokefree Strategy presents a shared plan to reduce smoking rates in Islington to 16% over the next
five years organised under its three strategic objectives: (1) Closing the gateways in; (2) Helping people
out and (3) Reducing related harm.
7.2 The Camden and Islington Smokefree Alliance will develop a more detailed, action-oriented delivery plan
to take forward the Strategy, shaped by the feedback and inputs from key stakeholders, including the
Health and Wellbeing Board.
7.3 The Board is asked to:
1. Endorse and champion the Strategy and its ambition for Islington to be smokefree by 2030;
2. Consider and discuss the specific recommendations identified in this paper which provide an
opportunity for the Board and its constituent members to help drive forward the Strategy;
3. Consider what other actions, interventions or support the Board could provide in order to shape the
development of the Smokefree Delivery Plan in support of Islington becoming a smokefree borough
by 2030.
Background papers: None.
Attachments: Camden and Islington Smokefree Strategy 2016 - 2021
Final Report Clearance

Signed by

…………………………………………………………….
Julie Billett, Director of Public Health

Received by

…………………………………………………………….
Head of Democratic Services

5 January 2016
……………………..
Date
12 January 2016
………………….
Date

Report author: Dr Liz Brutus, Assistant Director Public Health, Camden & Islington Public Health
Tel:
020 7527 1078
E-mail: liz.brutus@islington.gov.uk

Page 36

Smokefree
Camden and Islington
2016-2021

Page 37

Contents
1

Foreword

3

2

Executive summary

4

3

Summary of recommendations

8

4

Introduction

15

5

Smoking still matters in Camden and Islington

18

6

Closing the gateways in

25

7

Helping people out

28

8

Reducing related harm

43

9

Conclusion

54

Project Team

55

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4
8.5

Supporting those who help smokers quit
Smokers with long term conditions
Smokers with mental health conditions
Smokers in Islington’s male and female prisons
Smoking in pregnancy and the early years
Young people
Smokefree environments
Smoking litter
Illicit tobacco
Shisha
Electronic cigarettes

43
46
47
48
50

Page 38
2

28
31
33
35
37
39

1
Foreword
We welcome the Camden and Islington
Tobacco Control Strategy 2016-2021 which
lays out our bold ambition to become
smokefree by 2030. The strategy sets out
how, over the next five years, we will work
together across Camden and Islington to
reduce the number of people who smoke.
Our aim is that the number of smokers in the
population will fall to 13% in Camden and 16%
in Islington.
The strategy sets out the plan for keeping
our children and young people safe from the
harms of tobacco. It lays out how we intend to
provide support for those who already smoke
and want to quit and how we intend to create a
clean and safe environment while encouraging
local businesses to support our work. We
welcome our two boroughs working together.
We want to focus on those communities in
greatest need and work with residents to raise
awareness of the issues and what can be

Councillor Janet Burgess

Deputy Leader and Executive Member Health
and Wellbeing
London Borough of Islington

done. Members of Camden and Islington’s
Smokefree Alliance have proposed a wide
array of recommendations to achieve these
strategic objectives.
In summary, this new strategy focuses on the
need for a good start in life for our children
and young people to stop them taking up
smoking, on efforts to tackle the unequal
harms related to smoking suffered by some of
our most disadvantaged and, in particular on
working with those partners who, through their
everyday activities, are often best placed to
help smokers quit.
We would encourage you to support this
strategy’s work, supporting Camden and
Islington in our journey to being smokefree by
2030.

Councillor Sally Gimson

Cabinet Member for Adult Social for Care and
Health
London Borough of Camden

Page 39
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

3

2
Executive Summary
Vision

By 2030 our vision is for a new generation
growing up in Camden and Islington where
virtually no-one smokes.
By 2021, our vision is that:
■■ Fewer than 16% of people in Islington and
13% of people in Camden will smoke.
■■ Fewer people will suffer early preventable
deaths or long-term illness and disability
due to smoking.
■■ Young people will understand the harms
of tobacco and shisha use and make the
choice not to start smoking or to quit.
■■ Families will choose to be smokefree and
give the best start in life for their children.
■■ Approximately 19,000 more people who
live, work, study or access health services
in Camden and Islington will have been
supported to stop smoking tobacco.
■■ Communities will be protected from the
harms of criminal activity linked to illegal
tobacco sales.
■■ The cost and impact of tobacco litter on
the environment will be minimised.
■■ Smokefree outdoor environments will
have become the norm where children
study and play and where people access
health and social care services.

Introduction

The Camden and Islington Smokefree
Alliance (CISA) was formed in Spring 2014
to address tobacco control issues jointly in
both boroughs. The Alliance is a partnership
of various organisations across Camden and
Islington.

Overarching priorities
1.

2.

3.

Close the gateways in: Educate young
people and families about the harms of
tobacco smoking and the risks of shisha
use, to help young people choose not to
smoke.
Help people out: Provide effective
support for smokers to quit that also
reaches those most at risk of poor health
or health inequality to change their
smoking behaviours. Look to the future,
which includes cautiously harnessing the
potential of electronic cigarettes.
Reduce related harm: Ensure that
families are aware of the dangers of
exposure to second-hand smoke; achieve
a cleaner environment, disrupt illegal
sales and enforce smokefree legislation.

Smoking still matters in Camden and
Islington

Smoking still matters to Camden and Islington
because it remains the single biggest
preventable risk factor for poor health and
premature death. The number of people who
smoke in Camden and particularly, in Islington,

Page 40
4

Closing the gateways in

has remained stubbornly stable since 2010,
even though prevalence has been steadily
decreasing nationally.
In 2014 there were around 32,100 adult
smokers in Camden (17%) and 40,400 adult
smokers in Islington (22%). Rates of smoking
remain much higher in certain population
groups, disproportionally affecting those
already disadvantaged. These include people
who are less affluent, certain black and ethnic
minority communities, LGBT communities,
people living with long-term conditions,
including mental health, and people in the
criminal justice system. The challenge in the
coming years will be to tackle the inequalities
caused by smoking in our communities.
Our target is to reduce the proportion of
adult smokers to 13% in Camden and 16%
in Islington by 2021. This is around 7,600
less smokers in Camden and 11,300 less
smokers in Islington in five years. We aim to
drive reductions in prevalence by at least a
quarter specifically in communities with higher
smoking rates.
Smoking is still a killer; half of all long-term
smokers die of a smoking-related illness.
Smoking cannabis with tobacco greatly
increases the harms to health. In Camden,
there are around 217 smoking-related deaths
each year and 225 deaths in Islington.
These are ambitious goals which will require
bold action. Everyone must play their part to
achieve the vision of a smokefree Camden
and Islington and reduce the impacts
of tobacco amongst the most affected
communities.

Smoking usually starts at an early age
and most smokers start in childhood and
develop a life-long habit. That is why it is
essential to close the gateways into smoking,
for children and young people, to create a
smokefree generation. Long-term smoking is
closely associated with inequality and social
exclusion, with children from low income
backgrounds most likely to be smokers in
adulthood.
The main influence for children starting to
smoke is their immediate family. Therefore,
helping adults in the family to stop smoking
and creating smokefree environments where
children live and play are essential parts
of this strategy and will contribute to fewer
children starting to smoke and may contribute
to a new generation of people addicted to
nicotine.
Please see the full list of Recommendations
for those related to ‘closing the gateways in’.

Helping people out

Supporting those who help smokers
quit: Stop smoking services provide
pharmacotherapy and use behaviour change
techniques to help smokers quit in the most
effective way. In the last two years the number
of people accessing NHS stop smoking
services has declined nationally for a number
of reasons, including the use of e-cigarettes.
London Clinical Senate’s project, ‘Helping
Smokers Quit’ has particularly highlighted the
role for clinicians to more routinely provide
advice and support, including appropriate
pharmacotherapy, to patients who smoke.   
There is also a need for a wider variety of
‘front-line’ staff who can help identify residents

Page 41
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

5

who smoke and signpost them to relevant
advice and support. Employers also have a
role to play and benefit from helping staff quit.
Smokers with long term conditions:
Smoking can contribute to the development
and worsening of several health conditions.
Stopping smoking greatly improves outcomes
for people with these conditions – it is almost
never too late to quit. Offering very brief
advice to smokers with long term conditions,
at the appropriate ‘teachable moments’
during their care pathway has many potential
benefits and should be an integral part of the
management of long term conditions, both in
primary and secondary care.
Smokers with mental health conditions:
Smoking prevalence is twice as common
among people with mental health problems,
and more so in those with more severe illness.
People with mental health problems use
42% of all tobacco consumed in the UK, due
to heavier nicotine dependency. However,
smokers with mental ill health are just as likely
to want to quit as smokers without mental
ill health, but are more likely to be heavily
addicted to smoking and, historically, have
been less likely to succeed when they try to
quit. Smokers with mental ill health often need
substantially more support to quit, including
Nicotine Replacement Therapy provided
over a longer time frame and more intensive
behavioural support.
Smokers in Islington’s male and female
prisons: Smoking rates among prisoners
have changed relatively little in the last few
decades: they are estimated to be three to
four times higher (up to 80%) than the general
population (18% in England). The Prison
Service is now actively working towards

prisons becoming completely smokefree
following their exemption from the 2007
Smokefree legislation. Adequate provision
of pharmacotherapy will need to be assured
before the smokefree agenda can be rolled
across the whole establishment.
Smoking in pregnancy and the early
years: Stopping smoking is one of the most
effective interventions to improve the health
of mother and baby and prevent avoidable
infant mortality. Camden and Islington both
have a higher rate of smoking in pregnancy
than the London average (5.1%): 5.5% in
Camden and 7.7% in Islington. Stopping
smoking in pregnancy can be challenging.
Only a small number of pregnant women take
up the offer of help to stop smoking. Many of
those who successfully stop smoking during
their pregnancy go back to smoking within six
months of giving birth.
Young people: Smoking is a childhood
addiction. About two-thirds of adult smokers
report they took up smoking before the age
of 18. The younger people are when they
start smoking the greater the harm is likely to
be. Early initiation of smoking is associated
with subsequent heavier smoking, higher
levels of dependency, lower chances of
quitting and higher mortality. Access to
stop smoking services by teenage smokers
has been historically low. It is important to
develop innovative approaches which will
ensure young smokers have the best possible
chances to quit smoking, before it becomes a
life-long habit and impacts on their health.
Please see the full list of Recommendations
for those related to ‘helping smokers out’.

Page 42
6

Reducing related harm

Smokefree environments: One of the aims
of this strategy is to protect children from the
risks caused by exposure to second hand
smoke. It is our ambition to de-normalise
smoking for children, by creating environments
where children are not exposed to smoking:
not only in the home but also outside schools
and in playgrounds.
Smoking litter: Cleaning up cigaretterelated litter is a significant problem in the
UK, accounting for 70-90% of street litter in
urban areas. Cigarette butts are the most
common item of litter in both boroughs with
an annual street cleaning bill between £7.5
and £9 million in Camden and £3.5 million in
Islington. Those responsible for damaging our
environment should be required to pay for the
clean-up, i.e. ‘the polluter pays’.
Illicit tobacco: In 2015, it was estimated that
around 10% of all cigarettes and 39% of handrolled tobacco consumed in the UK in 2013-14
were illicit. The cost of buying illicit tobacco for
the individual can be as little as half the cost of
legitimate products. However, the profits from
illicit trade are pocketed by criminal networks,
such as gangs, which cause further harm to
society through other criminal activities such
as drug smuggling and human trafficking.
Cross-borough, and ideally, regional multiagency cooperation is needed to tackle illicit
tobacco trade.
Shisha: In Camden and Islington there is
widespread compliance with smokefree laws
since the legislation was widely welcomed by
the public and most businesses. However,
recent proliferation of shisha premises has
seen an increase in businesses allowing

smoking in enclosed spaces in contravention
of the smokefree laws. The problem is
best addressed by a combination of user
education as to the health effects, early advice
to businesses thinking about shisha as a
business model, close community liaison,
multi-agency working and, where necessary, a
robust approach to enforcement where there
is persistent non-compliance with smokefree
and other laws.
Please see the full list of Recommendations
for those related to ‘reducing related harm’.

Conclusion

The three overarching priorities closing the
gateways in; helping people out and reducing
related harm, are essential and interlocking
pieces of the overall strategy. Work in each
priority area informs and advances work in
others. Without this comprehensive approach,
sustained over the long term, we cannot
deliver further reductions in prevalence and
reduce social and health inequalities caused
by smoking.
Work on several of the recommendations
proposed has already started. However, many
recommendations are new and ambitious and
will require strong leadership from a number
of partners and making tobacco control
everyone’s business. Going forward we will
strengthen and renew partnerships with a
clearer focus on health inequalities. The CISA
will work with the wider stakeholder groups
to develop a delivery plan, to move ideas into
action and achieve results.

Page 43
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

7

3
Summary of

recommendations
Smoking still matters in Camden and Islington
■■ Reduce

smoking in the adult population in Camden to 13% and Islington
to 16% or less by 2021, with targets agreed on an annual basis. This
is around 7,600 less smokers in Camden and 11,300 less smokers in
Islington, in five years.
■■ Reduce smoking amongst pregnant women to 3% in Camden and 5% in
Islington by 2021.
■■ Reduce regular and occasional smoking among 15 year olds to 5% in
Camden and to 7% in Islington by 2021.
■■ Reduce health inequalities by reducing smoking prevalence in all key
target groups with above-average smoking prevalence by at least 25%
from the 2015 baseline by 2021. For example, we will reduce smoking
in the routine and manual socio-economic group to 20% (from 27%) in
Camden and to 29% (from 41%) in Islington by 2021.

Closing the gateways in
■■ Implement

the health related behaviour questionnaire in Camden and
Islington schools and use data on smoking to inform a range of targeted
interventions.
■■ Continue to educate primary and secondary school children, encouraging
them to consider the social influences of smoking, highlighting the health
risks and costs of smoking, as well as the support available to stop.
Extend this work to include environmental and political impacts of tobacco
use and tobacco companies’ tactics, to resonate further with young
peoples’ concerns.
■■ Create a smokefree environment for young people, families and staff using
the Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers.
■■ Continue to work with teachers to identify young smokers or pupils at risk
of smoking and implement peer education programmes, such as ASSIST,
to change attitudes to smoking tobacco and cannabis.
■■ Ensure that parents and children are educated about the harms of shisha
smoking and understand the risks of electronic cigarette use.

Page 44

8

■■ W
 ork with the Youth Council, the Young People’s Health Forum, Youth
Hubs and other partners to explore ways of reaching young people and
ensure the smokefree messages are prioritised.
■■ Develop a targeted approach for complex/troubled families.
■■ Work with all Commissioners of children and young people services
(including Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)) to:
‘Mainstream’ stop smoking-related activity  as part of their
commissioning of clinical care in line with NICE guidance
 Ensure adequate resource allocation for age-appropriate stop smoking
advice provision
■■ Work with clinical staff and hospital service providers seeing any children
and young people to:
 Require mandatory training on at least Very Brief Advice for Smoking
Cessation (Ask, Advise, Act) for all clinical staff
 Consider the whole family for smoking cessation referral and support
 Streamline internal referral systems (in conjunction with Community
Stop Smoking Service provision)

Helping people out

Support
those
who help
smokers
quit

■■ Ensure good quality, evidence-based stop smoking service is integrated
into the wider behaviour change offer available within both boroughs
which aims to improve the health and wellbeing of people in Camden
and Islington.  These services should be accessible to all smokers and
particularly those from lower socio-economic groups and disadvantaged
populations.
■■ Develop local communications initiatives based on national campaigns like
Stoptober and No Smoking Day, to promote consistent and coordinated
messages about stop smoking support and reach high priority groups
through effective, targeted communications.
■■ Ensure that training on providing very brief advice on smoking cessation is
required of every clinician seeing Camden and Islington patients and that
there is adequate clinical leadership in every NHS organisation, both at
senior and ward/clinic levels to support this.  
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe are trained and competent to prescribe
smoking cessation medication.
■■ Ensure accurate and timely information about e-cigarette use to reduce
public confusion about the relative risks of nicotine products compared to
tobacco products and allow an informed choice.
■■ Increase the number of public sector staff as well as community and
voluntary sector volunteers and staff who are trained to provide very brief
advice on smoking cessation.
■■ Use Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers to increase stop
smoking interventions by staff working with young people.
■■ Support workplace health and wellbeing, initially focusing on both
boroughs’ largest public
sector45
employers, to reduce smoking amongst
Page
employees.
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

9

Smokers
with long
term
conditions

■■ Engage primary care leads such as Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) clinical champions, Local Medical Committee (LMC) and Local
Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) representatives to explore opportunities
for better engagement with smoking cessation and sharing best practice in
primary care to ensure that people with long term conditions are routinely
being encouraged to quit smoking and receive the appropriate support to
do so in line with NICE tobacco guidance.
■■ Work with the clinical champion in every secondary care trust in Camden
and Islington, to lead on helping smokers quit and to consider how the
London Clinical Senate recommendations on very brief advice training and
CO testing can be implemented.
■■ Promote adherence to NICE guidance on tobacco especially aimed at
secondary care (acute, maternity and mental health services), by working
with CCG commissioners and secondary care providers.
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe are trained and competent to prescribe
smoking cessation medication.
■■ Encourage clinicians to routinely ask about cannabis use as part of their
smoking cessation discussion with their patient.

■■ Include stop smoking support in initiatives promoting physical health (e.g.
healthy eating, obesity support, physical activity) for mental health service
users, including young people.  
■■ Ensure specialist stop smoking services tailored to smokers with mental ill
health are available in residential care, in-patient settings and those living
Smokers
independently the community, across Camden and Islington.
with Mental
■■ Ensure a network of level 2 trained stop smoking advisors exists across all
Health
mental health secondary and community care settings.
conditions
■■ All staff in mental health services are trained in very brief advice and
second-hand smoke.
■■ Work with the fire department to ensure that residential care homes
comply with fire safety standards to minimise the risks for residents who
continue to smoke
■■ Ensure that in long term residential care homes all smoking takes place
outside.
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe in mental health settings are trained and
competent to prescribe smoking cessation medication.

Page 46
10

Smokers in
Islington’s
female
and male
prisons

Smoking in
pregnancy

■■ Develop stronger links between prison and in-patient psychiatric services
and the community-based stop smoking service to ensure continuity of
care, when prisoners return to the community.
■■ Explore commissioning an “in reach” service, so that when the person
is discharged they can continue to receive stop smoking support via the
same service.
■■ Establish links between homeless projects, psychiatric care and the prison
service to ensure continuity of care for Camden and Islington residents
who cycle through these three services.
■■ Strengthen the stop smoking provision across the whole criminal justice
pathway, so that those leaving prisons have access to support.
■■ Ensure that prisoners who are transferred to HMP Pentonville and HMP
Holloway (until June 2016) whilst they are quitting smoking continue to
receive stop smoking support and do not have to go onto a waiting list.
■■ All psychiatric care staff in all settings, all prison staff and homeless
support workers should be trained in very brief advice in smoking
cessation and apprised of the dangers of second hand smoke.  Any
CQUIN or equivalent quality improvement incentive for psychiatric care
staff could ensure that the training is mandatory.
■■ Ensure evidence-based treatments and staff training are commissioned for
HMP Pentonville.
■■ Support HMP Pentonville to become smokefree and develop an updated
smokefree strategy.
■■ Reduce smoking amongst pregnant women to 3% in Camden and 5% in
Islington by 2021.
■■ Promote adherence to NICE guidance on tobacco in all maternity services
in Camden and Islington caring for pregnant women and following
childbirth.
■■ Ensure pregnant women accessing maternity care are routinely screened
with a carbon monoxide (CO) monitor by midwifery staff who are equipped,
trained and with adequate time, and that pregnant women who smoke are
referred to stop smoking services, as part of their care pathway.
■■ Early years services commissioning should explore the role of health
visitors and other professionals in supporting pregnant women and
families with young children to stop smoking.

Page 47
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

11

Young
people

■■ Understand the needs of staff working in children’s centres and schools
when talking to parents and children who smoke and provide tailor-made
training to enable those conversations.
■■ Showcase successes of staff working in challenging settings where views
on smoking are entrenched and share good practice.
■■ Target vulnerable children who smoke, by working with social services,
youth offending service, pupil referral units and looked after children
nurses and enable staff to give appropriate advice and support.
■■ Create innovative partnerships to reach young people 16 or older, such as
with student unions, leisure centres and privately owned gyms.
■■ Conduct insight research to target resources where young people are
likely to get advice and support about stopping smoking.
■■ Work with the youth offending service in Camden and Islington to promote
smoking cessation to young offenders.
■■ Encourage responsible retailer practices, such as not selling tobacco near
schools.
■■ Ensure tobacco retailers near schools are fully compliant with new
legislation on tobacco displays in shops, as a priority.
■■ Explore the provision of specialist stop smoking services for children,
young people and their families.

Reducing related harm

Smokefree
environments

12

■■ Raise awareness of the ban of smoking in cars with children, with parents,
children and staff (traffic wardens, road safety units, sustainable travel
officers).
■■ Continue to support national smokefree homes and cars awareness
campaigns.
■■ Continue to de-normalise smoking by reducing smoking around children:
smoking and cigarette litter is out of sight of school gates and playgrounds
in Council parks, housing estates and adventure playgrounds. This work,
already under way in Islington will be developed in Camden.  If successful,
in both boroughs, we will look to expand the number and nature of public
spaces e.g. public squares, to further de-normalise smoking in public for
all ages.
■■ Work with partners of Islington’s “First 21 Months” and Camden’s “A
Thousand and One Days”  programme teams, to increase the uptake of
smokefree homes.
■■ Use Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers to create smokefree
environments for young people and their families.
■■ Work with partners to increase smokefree outdoor environments in
Camden and Islington, as part of organisational smokefree policies; such
as implementing smokefree hospital grounds.
■■ Work with employers to support the smokefree element of the London
Healthy Workplace Charter
Page awards.
48

Smoking
litter

£
Illicit
tobacco

■■ Continue working with smokers of all ages to reduce smoking-related litter
in Camden and Islington with a combination of education and enforcement
activities.
■■ Continue partnership work between Camden Environment services and
local schools to raise awareness amongst our younger residents about the
impact of litter in the borough and show them that tobacco also damages
the environment.
■■ Introduce an innovative scheme, already in operation in other London local
authorities, such as Enfield and Haringey: a smoker who is issued a fixed
penalty notice for littering smoking material can complete a course with the
local Stop Smoking Service as an alternative to a fine.
■■ Work with local businesses to ensure that staff on smoking breaks dispose
cigarette butts responsibly and customers do not litter when sitting in
outdoor areas, such as pubs and cafes.
■■ Camden and Islington Trading Standards should continue to play a lead
role in the newly established North East North Central London Illicit
Tobacco Cluster Group to develop a cross-borough approach to dealing
with the problem of illicit tobacco sales.  The group includes Trading
Standards representatives from Camden, Islington, Haringey, Enfield,
Hackney, Waltham Forest and Tower Hamlets.  
■■ Further develop links with the South East London Illicit Tobacco Group
with the long-term aim of developing a pan-London approach to dealing
with the sale of illicit tobacco, to work more closely with HMRC and Border
Control.
■■ Continue to build on successes in reducing the number of underage sales
and the amount of illicit tobacco on sale, by continuing strong enforcement
and continue to identify priority areas to target and develop a method for
local residents to provide intelligence.
■■ Work in partnership with the schools’ health and wellbeing teams to raise
awareness about illicit tobacco amongst young people (and their parents)
and to remind young people that shisha is tobacco – it is not always
labelled that way and young people in particular are unaware that they are
consuming tobacco, often illegally imported.

Page 49
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

13

Shisha

Electronic
cigarettes

■■ Camden and Islington should continue to have a proactive and preventive
multi-team approach to monitor shisha premises with routine visits, until
they comply with legislation or else stop selling shisha. They should
continue to take action when shisha premises are breaking the law, such
as allowing smoking shisha and/or cigarettes indoors, or not providing the
required warning labels associated with the sale of tobacco. They should
continue to identify shisha cafes which routinely allow underage customers
and take enforcement action.
■■ In Camden, map the location of shisha cafes to identify their proximity to
local schools. Trading Standards and the healthy schools team should
raise awareness with children and their parents that shisha tobacco is not
always labelled that way, so young people in particular may be unaware
they are consuming tobacco.
■■ In line with PHE guidance, welcome the use of ECs by existing smokers
who make a quit attempt and support smokers further to quit tobacco
products using our evidence-based stop smoking services.
■■ Respond pro-actively to emerging new evidence on ECs and to future
availability of licensed products to be used as stop smoking aids.
■■ Ensure our stop smoking services and all professionals in Camden and
Islington providing Level 2 stop smoking advice are equipped to give
up-to-date information about the relative risks of nicotine and all nicotinecontaining products (including ECs), based on national guidance and
regulation.
■■ Continue to monitor the sale of ECs and ensure that sellers comply with
new and existing legislation (for example under-age sales) and with safety
regulations, in particular regarding unsafe chargers.  Explore potential for
partnership work with the Fire Service.

Page 50
14

4
Introduction
The first ever joint Camden and Islington
Tobacco Control Summit took place on 13
February 2014. The event was hosted by the
Lead Members for Health and Adult Social
Care in both boroughs and brought together
staff from Public Health, Environment, Public
Protection, School Improvement Service
in both Camden and Islington Councils, as
well as the Stop Smoking Service providers,
Clinical Commissioning Group, Fire Service
and Public Health England. The key priority
areas to address the damage caused to the
local community by tobacco were agreed in
the Tobacco Control Summit: reducing the
number of young people taking up smoking;
supporting tobacco users to quit using the
most effective means possible; and reducing
the wider harms caused to the community
at large, such as second-hand smoke in the
home, cigarette litter and fires.
There was strong support for Camden and
Islington to work in partnership to address
tobacco control issues in the future, including
developing a joint strategy, governance
arrangements for tobacco control and an
Alliance of local stakeholders who will deliver
the goals of this strategy, called the Camden
and Islington Smokefree Alliance (CISA).
The CISA was formed in Spring 2014 and
a two-year tobacco control action plan was
developed.

Both Camden and Islington Councils signed
the Local Government Declaration on Tobacco
Control in March 2014, confirming their
commitment to act in order to reduce smoking
in our communities, as well as protect tobacco
control work from the vested interests of the
tobacco industry.A
The CISA is working towards realising a
smokefreeB Camden and Islington by 2030;
that is, towards a generation of people
growing up where virtually no-one smokes.
This Camden and Islington Tobacco Control
strategy outlines the ambitions for tobacco
control in Camden and Islington in 201621. It will be updated in line with national
policy, as necessary. Our aim is that smoking
prevalence in the adult population is reduced
to 13% in Camden and 16% in Islington by
2021, contributing to the ambition for London
to have the lowest smoking rate globally
(among all cities over 5 million inhabitants).1
The Camden and Islington Tobacco Control
strategy sets out a range of recommendations
for the next five years, across the following
three themes:

A. This is in accordance with article 5.3 of the WHO framework convention on tobacco control.
B. For the purposes of this strategy, a smokefree society is defined as 5% or less of the population being current
smokers.

Page 51

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

15

Closing the gateways in
Educating young
people

Reducing
related harm

Helping people out
Supporting smokers
to quit

1.

 losing the gateways in
C
Educating children, young people and
families about the harms of tobacco
smoking and the risks of shisha use and
supporting them to consider the social
influences of smoking, in order to help
children and young people to choose not
to smoke.

2.	
Helping people out
Providing effective support for smokers
to quit that also reaches those most at
risk of poor health or health inequality
to change their smoking behaviours.
Looking to the future, this includes
cautiously harnessing the potential of
electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes).

3.	
Reducing related harm
Ensuring that families are aware of the
dangers of exposure to second-hand
smoke; achieving a cleaner environment,
disrupting illegal sales and enforcing
smokefree legislation.

Achieving cleaner smokefree
environments and
disrupting illegal sales

However, within these themes, we have
particular priorities. We recognise that
most people become addicted to smoking
tobacco whilst they are young. Therefore,
we need to focus much of our energy on
promoting a smoke-free start in life and
childhood. In addition, smoking does not affect
communities fairly – those who are poorer or
come from certain minority groups are more
likely to smoke and therefore be affected
disproportionately by the negative effects of
smoking. And finally, our healthcare partners
are often uniquely positioned to influence
and encourage smokers to quit; we must
support and invigorate these clinicians for this
challenge. But we are clear – while we aspire
to be smokefree and anti-smoking, we are
not anti-smoker and in fact want to support
smokers to tackle their nicotine addiction.
The CISA will realise a smokefree Camden
and Islington through the following:

Page 52
16

1.

Evidence-based interventions

and recommendations

In tackling a complex, multifaceted
issue such as smoking where multiple
interventions are needed, it can be very
difficult to tease out clear evidence of
impact. We recognise this is a limitation
when dealing with such a complex
issue. We will look at the available
evidence and recommendations
drawn from both local and national
publications.2 3 4 5 6 When possible,
we will work with partners to use
evaluation tools to assess what works.
We will draw on tools such as the
Public Health England joint strategic
needs assessment (JSNA) pack on
tobacco control to support effective
implementation of our plans.   

2.	
Partnership working
Camden and Islington Smokefree
Alliance partners will work together to
achieve the ambitions outlined in this
strategy and will engage new partners
from relevant Council departments,
statutory bodies and the community to
further support this work.  

5.	
A communications strategy
Council communications departments
in both boroughs will coordinate and
enhance smokefree messages and
support borough-wide communication
campaigns.
To achieve this, CISA partners will develop a
detailed delivery plan each year to ensure we
are on track to achieve the recommendations
set out in this strategy across the three key
strategic areas.

References
1.

2.

3.

3.	
Making best use of the

resources available

By working with partners in both
boroughs (and across London where
appropriate) we will aim to make
best use of our combined resources
- reducing duplication and taking
advantage of economies of scale where
possible.

4.	
Helping those who need help the

most

A focus on communities with high levels
of deprivation will aim to reduce health
inequalities.

4.

5.

6.

 ondon Health Commission. Better Health
L
for London. 2014. Available from: http://www.
londonhealthcommission.org.uk/wp-content/
uploads/London-Health-Commission_BetterHealth-for-London.pdf
National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence. Smoking. Reducing Tobacco Use.
QS82; 2015 [Online]. Available from: http://www.
nice.org.uk/guidance/qs82/resources/guidancesmoking-reducing-tobacco-use-pdf
National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence. Smoking Cessation: Supporting People
to Stop Smoking. QS43; 2015 [Online]. Available
from: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs43/
resources/guidance-smoking-cessation-supportingpeople-to-stop-smoking-pdf
National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence. Smoking: Harm Reduction. QS92;
2015 [Online]. Available from: http://www.nice.org.
uk/guidance/qs92/resources/guidance-smokingharm-reduction-pdf
Action for Smoking and Health. Smoking Still
Kills: Protecting Children, Reducing Inequalities.
2015. Available from http://www.ash.org.uk/
smokingstillkills
Department of Health. Healthy Lives Healthy
People: A Tobacco Control Plan for England. 2011.
Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/213757/dh_124960.pdf

Page 53
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

17

5
Smoking still matters

in Camden and Islington
More detailed evidence is available in
Chapters 6-8.

Since 2010 the estimated smoking
prevalenceB has gradually decreased in
London and England on average.

To individuals
Still the biggest single preventable
risk factor

Despite a significant drop in smoking
prevalence in England in the last ten
years, smoking remains the biggest single
preventable risk factor for poor health
and premature death. The London Health
Commission report outlined the ambitions for a
smokefree London to reduce tobacco-related
avoidable deaths, currently estimated at more
than 8,000 a year in London.1

Smoking prevalence

Even though the proportion of people who
smoke has declined in Camden and Islington
compared to ten years ago (23.5% in Camden
and 27.5% in Islington estimated in 2003-5),A
data from 2010 to 2014 show that prevalence
has stopped decreasing and may still be
above the London and England averages.

In Islington smoking prevalence has remained
stable since 2010, widening the gap with the
regional and national averages. In 2014 the
estimated prevalence was significantly higher
in Islington (22%) compared to London (17%)
and England (18%) (Figure 1.1). There are
around 40,400 adult smokers in Islington.
In Camden smoking prevalence has also
remained stableC since 2010. In 2014 the
estimated prevalence for Camden (17%)
was not significantly different to London (also
17%) or England (18%) (Figure 1.2). There
are approximately 32,100 adult smokers in
Camden.2

A. Although data available for 2003-5 are from different sources than data post 2010 and cannot be compared
directly, it is logical to assume that prevalence has fallen significantly in Camden and Islington in line with
national trends.
B. The smoking prevalence for 2010 to 2014 is estimated figures drawn from the Integrated Household Survey.
C. The estimates for Camden have fluctuated, but there is no statistically significant difference in smoking
prevalence comparing from year to year, or comparing the change from 2010 (20%) to 2014 (17%).

Page 54

18

Figure 1.1 Prevalance of smoking in adults aged 18 and over
Islington, London and England: 2010-2014
50%

40%

PERCENTAGE

30%

20%

10%

0%

2010

2011

2012

Islington

London

YEAR

2013

2014

England

Islington
Figure 1.2 Prevalance of smoking in adults aged 18 and over
Camden, London and England: 2010-2014
50%

40%

PERCENTAGE

30%

20%

10%

0%

Camden

2010

2011

2012

Camden

London

YEAR

2013

2014

England

Page 55
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

19

Addiction starts young

Most smokers’ addiction to tobacco sets in
before the age of 18, as children start smoking
due to peer pressure, role modelling of adult
smokers in their family environment and other
influences. In Camden 3.9% of 15 year olds
and 4.5% in Islington are regular smokersA
and as many are occasional smokers (3.2% in
Camden and 4.9% in Islington).3  An effective
way to prevent young people from starting to
smoke is to support adult smokers to stop.4

Smoking in pregnancy

Camden and Islington both have a higher
rate of smoking in pregnancy than the
London average (5.1%). In Camden, 5.5% of
women smoke at the time of delivery.5 After
an increase in 2011-12, in Islington the rate
of smoking in pregnancy has fallen in the
following year to 7.7%.6 Smoking increases
the risk of harm to both mother and unborn
child particularly of premature delivery and
still birth. We also know that a child whose
mother smokes is twice as likely to smoke
themselves.7

Still a killer

Half of all long term smokers will die of a
smoking-related illness. In Camden, there
are around 217 smoking-related deaths
every year8 and 225 deaths in Islington9.
For every death caused by smoking, there
are approximately 20 smokers suffering
from a smoking-related disease, many of
which cause substantial disability. Smoking
cannabis with tobacco is much worse for
health, particularly increasing the risk and
accelerating the development of lung disease.

To our communities
Unequal effects

Tackling smoking is also an issue of social
justice. The impact of tobacco use affects
different communities disproportionally.
Smoking is still the leading cause of avoidable
deaths and disability, but also the biggest
cause of health inequalities – the gap in health
and wellbeing experienced by different groups.
Smoking contributes to increased poverty for
the less affluent smokers in our communities,
who pay the highest price for their tobacco
use: poorer physical health, disability and
poorer quality of life for them and their families
and an earlier death. Smoking accounts for
approximately half of the difference in life
expectancy between the lowest and highest
income groups. Smoking-related death rates
are two to three times higher in low-income
groups than in wealthier social groups.10

Smoking prevalence is highest
amongst the most deprived
communities

It is 26% in Camden and 28% in Islington
in contrast to 14% and 21% respectively
amongst the most affluent.11,12 It is strongly
associated with unemployment13 and lower
education.14,15 In routine and manual groups
smoking prevalence is 27% in Camden and
41% in Islington.16 Some ethnic groups also
have much higher rates of smoking, such
as the mixed White and Black Caribbean
population (32%) in Camden17 and Turkishspeaking (33%) and Irish (29%) communities
in Islington18. Smoking is also more prevalent
among lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender
communities (LGBT). For people with mental

A. In the Health and Wellbeing Survey questionnaire for 15 year olds, a ‘regular’ smoker is someone who smokes
one or more cigarettes a week, while an ‘occasional’ smoker is someone who doesn’t smoke as many as one
cigarette a week.

Page 56

20

health conditions, smoking significantly
contributes to the burden of ill health. A
third of adults with a mental health condition
smoke, which is 50% higher than the general
population.19 Rates of smoking amongst
people with a psychotic disorder may be as
high as 80%. The high prevalence of smoking
among prisoners can also be partly attributed
to high rates of mental health problems in this
group.20 71% of sentenced prisoners have
two or more mental disorders, whilst 90% of
young prisoners aged 15-21 have one mental
disorder.21
If we are to reduce health inequalities in the
two boroughs, we must develop new ways to
drive down smoking prevalence amongst the
most disadvantaged groups.22, 23

To our wider society
The total annual cost of smoking to society
in Camden is £60 million (Figure 1.3), in
Islington it’s £66.22 million (Figure 1.4). This
covers not only the costs to the NHS, but
also costs to public services for social care,
tackling fires caused by smoking, and costs to
business from lost productivity.24 In contrast
tax revenue from tobacco sales by smokers
in Camden was £35.4 million and in Islington
£37.2 million, creating a shortfall of £24.6
million and £29 million respectively.  
We welcome the NHS Five Year Forward View
and its emphasis on prevention.25 Helping
people quit smoking (and preventing them
from even starting) has well-documented
health, social and financial benefits for
individuals and our wider society.

Page 57
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

21

Figure 1.3 Smoking costs vs taxation (£millions)
Total local contribution
in tobacco duty

£35.41

Total local cost
of tobacco

£60.26
£millions
0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

Lost productivity
(smoking breaks)

60.00

70.00

£31

Lost productivity
(early deaths)

£13

Smoking-related disease
(NHS)

£6

Lost productivity
(sick days)

£5

Smoking-related
social care

£3
Cost to society (£millions)

Smoking-related
fires

£1

Passive
smoking

£1
£0.0

£5.0

£10.0

£15.0

£20.0

£25.0

£30.0

£35.0

Camden
Figure 1.4 Smoking costs vs taxation (£millions)
Total local contribution
in tobacco duty

£37.19

Total local cost
of tobacco

£66.22
£millions
0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

Lost productivity
(smoking breaks)

£32

Lost productivity
(early deaths)

£17

Smoking-related disease
(NHS)

£7

Lost productivity
(sick days)

£5

Smoking-related
social care

£3
Cost to society (£millions)

Smoking-related
fires

£1

Passive
smoking

£1
£0.0

£5.0

£10.0

£15.0

£20.0

£25.0

Page 58
22

70.00

£30.0

£35.0

Islington

Unexpected harms

Tobacco use doesn’t just damage people’s
health. It damages business through the
loss of productivity related to both ‘smoke
breaks’ but also employee sickness absence.
The trade in illicit cigarettes fuels crime in
our communities, while carelessly discarded
cigarettes are a leading cause of house fires.  
Cigarette butts are the most commonly littered
item in London and are estimated to cost local
authorities between £7.5 and £9 million in
Camden and £3.5 in Islington to clear up.  
At a national level, there are calls for a
Tobacco Companies Obligation, similar to the
Energy Companies Obligation which requires
them to reduce and pay for environmental
pollution. While Camden and Islington may not
have this financial lever at our disposal, we
can still save money ‘across the system’ if we
reduce the number of people who smoke.

Bold in our ambition

Public Health England’s recommendation is
for a smokefree generation by 2025, where
less than 5% of the population are smokers.
For Camden and Islington, balancing
pragmatism with aspiration, we are aiming
to be smokefree by 2030. This is still an
ambitious target, which will require bold action.
It will mean reducing the number of smokers
by approximately 23,000 in Camden and
31,300 in Islington in the next fourteen years.
This will require a huge amount of work. This
strategy is an important step along the way to
achieve our goal of a smokefree generation.
It will outline what we will do locally to achieve
our ambitions.

Recommendations
■■ Reduce

smoking in the adult population in Camden to 13%
and Islington to 16% or less by 2021, with targets agreed on an
annual basis. This is around 7,600 less smokers in Camden and
11,300 less smokers in Islington, in five years.
■■ Reduce smoking amongst pregnant women to 3% in Camden and
5% in Islington by 2021.
■■ Reduce regular and occasional smoking among 15 year olds to 5% in Camden and to
7% in Islington by 2021.
■■ Reduce health inequalities by reducing smoking prevalence in all key target groups
with above-average smoking prevalence by at least 25% from the 2015 baseline by
2021. For example, we will reduce smoking in the routine and manual socio-economic
group to 20% (from 27%) in Camden and to 29% (from 41%) in Islington by 2021.

Page 59
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

23

References
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
6.
7.

8.
9.
10.

11.

12.
13.

14.

London Health Commission. Better Health for
London. 2014. Available from:
http://www.londonhealthcommission.org.uk/
wp-content/uploads/London-Health-Commission_
Better-Health-for-London.pdf
Public Health England. Local Tobacco Control
Profiles 2014. Available from
http://www.tobaccoprofiles.info/profile/tobaccocontrol/data
Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health
and Wellbeing of 15 year olds in England: Smoking
Prevalence - Findings from the What About
YOUth? Survey 2014. 2015 Available from:
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB17984
National Centre for Smoking Cessation and
Training with Public Health England 2014. Local
stop smoking services. Service and delivery
guidance. Available from http://www.ncsct.co.uk/
usr/pub/LSSS_service_delivery_guidance.pdf
Public Health England. Camden Health Profile
2015. Available from: www.apho.org.uk
Camden and Islington Public Health. Focus on
Smoking October 2014. Available from:
http://evidencehub.islington.gov.uk
Hofhuis W, de Jonste JC, Merkus PJFM. Adverse
health effects of prenatal and postnatal tobacco
smoke exposure on children. Arch Dis Child
2003;88:1086-90.
Public Health England. Camden Health Profile
2015. Available from: www.apho.org.uk
Public Health England. Islington Health Profile
2015. Available from: www.apho.org.uk
Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T et al. Fair
Society, Healthy Lives: Strategic Review of Health
Inequalities in England post 2010. 2010. Available
from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/
fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
Camden Council Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment. [Online] 2013. Available from: https://
www.camden.gov.uk/ccm/content/social-care-andhealth/health-in-camden/joint-strategic-needsassessment-2012/chapter-8-smoking/?page=4
Camden and Islington Public Health. Focus on
Smoking October 2014. Available from:
http://evidencehub.islington.gov.uk
De Vogli R, Santinello M. Unemployment and
Smoking: does psychosocial stress matter?
Tobacco Control [Online] 2005;14: 389-395
Available from: doi:10.1136/tc.2004.010611
Gilman SE, Martin LT, Abraham DB, Kawachi I et
al. Educational attainment and cigarette smoking:
a causal association. International Journal of
Epidemiology [Online] 2008; 37(3): 615-624.
Available from: http://ije.oxfordjournals.org/
content/37/3/615.short

15. Wagenknect LE, Perkins LL, Cutter GR, Sidney
S et al. Cigarette smoking behaviour is strongly
related to educational status: the cardia study.  
Preventive Medicine [Online] 1990; 19(2): 158169. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/
science/article/pii/009174359090017E
16. Public Health England. Local Tobacco Control
Profiles 2014. Available from http://www.
tobaccoprofiles.info/profile/tobacco-control/data
17. Camden Council Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment. [Online] 2013. Available from: https://
www.camden.gov.uk/ccm/content/social-care-andhealth/health-in-camden/joint-strategic-needsassessment-2012/chapter-8-smoking/?page=4
18. Camden and Islington Public Health. Focus on
Smoking October 2014. Available from: http://
evidencehub.islington.gov.uk
19. Wu Q, Szatkiwski L, Britton J et al. Economic cost
of smoking in people with mental disorders in the
UK. Tobacco Control 2015; 24(5):462-8. Available
from: doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2013-051464.
20. Royal College of Physicians and the Royal College
of Psychiatrists. Smoking and Mental Health.
2013. Available from: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/
publications/smoking-and-mental-health
21. Public Health England. Reducing smoking in
prisons. Management of tobacco use and nicotine
withdrawal. 2015. Available from: https://www.
gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/412567/Reducing_smoking_
in_prisons.pdf
22. Walness D. Securing Good Health for the Whole
Population. Department of Health. 2004. Available
from: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.
uk/+/http:/www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/media/D/3/
Wanless04_summary.pdf
23. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T et al. Fair
Society, Healthy Lives: Strategic Review of Health
Inequalities in England post 2010. 2010. Available
from: http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/projects/
fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
24. Action for Smoking and Health Ready Reckoner
v.4.6 27 August 2015. Available from: ash.org.uk/
localtoolkit/docs/Reckoner.xls
25. NHS Five Year Forward View. October 2014.
Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf

Page 60

24

6
Closing the gateways in
Smoking usually starts at an early age and
most smokers start in childhood and develop
a life-long habit. That is why it is essential to
close the gateways into smoking, for children
and young people, to create a smokefree
generation.
There is no single reason why children start to
smoke. Prevention needs to address multiple
factors that contribute to a young person
choosing to smoke. Factors include having
parents or siblings who smoke; availability of
cigarettes, for example cheap illicit cigarettes;
peer pressure; socioeconomic status; tobacco
marketing and smoking in popular culture such
as in films and television.1
Smoking is linked to social deprivation.
Long-term smoking is closely correlated with
inequality and social exclusion, with children
from low income backgrounds most likely to
be smokers in adulthood. Vulnerable children,
such as children who are looked after by the
state, in foster care or in institutional settings,
have disproportionately high smoking rates
and begin to smoke at a very young age
(under 10 years old).2  Indeed, many of these
children and young people are at risk with
various problems (e.g. unsafe sex, alcohol
and substance misuse, school truancy), so a
‘common risk approach’ is required to address
the needs of the young person holistically. For
example, concurrent cannabis and tobacco
smoking considerably increases health risks.

Evidence shows that national policies, like the
standardised packaging legislation for tobacco
products, coming into effect in May 2016,
can have a significant effect in discouraging
children and young people from starting to
smoke. Unappealing, dull-coloured packs with
strong and prominent health warnings, will
replace the branded, bright-coloured packs
which appeal to children and falsely lead them
to believe that some brands are ‘safer’ than
others.3
The main influence for children starting to
smoke is their immediate family. Children
with family members who smoke are up to
three times more likely to become smokers
themselves than children whose parents are
non-smokers.4 Helping adults to stop smoking
and creating smokefree environments where
children live and play are essential parts
of this strategy and will contribute to fewer
children starting to smoke. These will be
addressed in sections 7 and 8 of the strategy.
Shisha smoking and electronic cigarettes are
relatively new ways of smoking tobacco or
using nicotine.5 We know that young people
experiment with both shisha and e-cigarettes.
One in thirty Year 6 primary school pupils
surveyed in 2015 in Islington and one in fifty
in Camden have tried an e-cigarette and this
goes up to one in eight in secondary school
(12% in Islington and 13% in Camden). Many
more pupils try shisha smoking: one in five
have tried it in secondary school and in Year

Page 61

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

25

10 almost half have tried it (46.5% in Islington
and 48% in Camden).6 Young people are
easily influenced by fashions and trends, as
well as peer pressure. On the other hand,

access to accurate information about these
new products may not be easily available. Our
recommendations to reduce tobacco related
harm are outlined in section 8.

Recommendations
■■ Implement

the health related behaviour questionnaire in Camden
and Islington schools and use data on smoking to inform a range of
targeted interventions.
■■ Continue to educate primary and secondary school children,
encouraging them to consider the social influences of smoking,
highlighting the health risks and costs of smoking, as well as the support available to
stop. Extend this work to include environmental and political impacts of tobacco use
and tobacco companies’ tactics, to resonate further with young peoples’ concerns.
■■ Create a smokefree environment for young people, families and staff using the
Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers.
■■ Continue to work with teachers to identify young smokers or pupils at risk of smoking
and implement peer education programmes, such as ASSIST, to change attitudes to
smoking tobacco and cannabis.
■■ Ensure that parents and children are educated about the harms of shisha smoking
and understand the risks of electronic cigarette use.
■■ Work with the Youth Council, the Young People’s Health Forum, Youth Hubs and
other partners to explore ways of reaching young people and ensure the smokefree
messages are prioritised.
■■ Develop a targeted approach for complex/troubled families.
■■ Work with all Commissioners of children and young people services (including
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)) to:
‘Mainstream’ stop smoking-related activity  as part of their commissioning of clinical
care in line with NICE guidance
 Ensure adequate resource allocation for age-appropriate stop smoking advice
provision
■■ Work with clinical staff and hospital service providers seeing any children and young
people to:
 Require mandatory training on at least Very Brief Advice for Smoking Cessation
(Ask, Advise, Act) for all clinical staff
 Consider the whole family for smoking cessation referral and support
 Streamline internal referral systems (in conjunction with Community Stop Smoking
Service provision)

Page 62
26

References
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf
Muller T. Breaking the cycle of children’s exposure
to tobacco smoke. British Medical Association.
2007. Available from: http://bmaopac.hosted.
exlibrisgroup.com/exlibris/aleph/a21_1/apache_
media/GR3GIR2QERK36MDPMLKEJ7AFL6AD8A.
pdf
British Heart Foundation. Standardised packaging
for tobacco products. Recent evidence from
Australia and United Kingdom. International
Tobacco Control Policy Evaluation Project and
British Heart Foundation. 2014. Available from:
https://www.bhf.org.uk/~/media/files/publications/
campaigns/itc-british-heart-foundationa4-v8-webfinal-18dec2014.pdf
Leonardi-Bee J, Jere ML, Britton J. Exposure
to parental and sibling smoking and the risk of
smoking uptake in childhood and adolescence:
a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax
2011; 66: 847-855 Available from: doi:10.1136/
thx.2010.153379.
Hughes K, Bellis MA et al. Associations between
e-cigarette access and smoking and drinking
behaviours in teenagers. BMC Public Health 2015;
15: 244. Available from: http://www.biomedcentral.
com/1471-2458/15/244
Data from the Health Related Behaviour
Questionnaire (HRBQ) survey 2015, carried out
in primary and secondary schools in Camden and
Islington. For more information contact:
Gill Morris (Camden Council):
gill.morris@camden.gov.uk
Helen Cameron (Islington Council):
helen.cameron@islington.gov.uk

Page 63
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

27

7
Helping people out
7.1	Supporting those who help
smokers quit
7.2	Smokers with long term
conditions
7.3	Smokers with mental health
conditions
7.4	Smokers in Islington’s male and
female prisons
7.5	Smoking in pregnancy and the
early years
7.6 Young people

7.1 Supporting those
who help smokers
quit
Role of stop smoking services

Compared to ten years ago, smoking
prevalence has fallen significantly in Camden
and Islington in line with the national trend.
Stop smoking services in both boroughs were
established and have played a key role in
helping smokers to quit, with evidence-based
behavioural support and treatments.
Stop smoking services provide
pharmacotherapy and use behaviour change
techniques and activities to maximise
motivation to quit, minimise the desire to
smoke and develop coping strategies to
deal with high-risk situations, stress and

other factors which may cause a relapse into
smoking. Pharmacotherapy includes Nicotine
Replacement Therapy (NRT), Varenicline
and Bupropion. Abstinence is measured by
expired-air carbon monoxide (CO) testing.
The evidence shows that the combination of
pharmacotherapy and structured behavioural
support provided by trained stop smoking
advisors increases the chance of quitting
by up to four times, compared to trying to
give up smoking without help1 and is highly
effective in improving long term quit rates.
Long term abstinence rates more than triple
when quitting with the stop smoking service,
compared to quitting without support.2
In the last two years the number of people
accessing NHS stop smoking services has
declined nationally. A number of factors could
have had an impact on this: the increasing use
of e-cigarettes, NHS re-organisation in 2013
and reduced revenue for advertising local
stop smoking services.3  Anecdotal evidence
from local community stop smoking services
highlights that there are now fewer smokers
in the population as many ‘quick wins’, i.e.
smokers who are ready and able to quit,
were targeted and quit in previous years. The
smoking population is, therefore, now mainly
made up of ‘hard-core’ smokers, many of
whom have long term health conditions and
a reluctance to quit smoking. These smokers
are harder to engage, and those that do
engage with the programme are less likely

Page 64

28

to quit within the nationally defined success
criteria of a 4-week quit period. Services report
that many people are also choosing to quit on
their own by using e-cigarettes over accessing
professional support, although NHS stop
smoking services are still the most effective
way for smokers to quit.
Sections 7.2 to 7.6 outline our strategic
recommendations to increase the number of
smokers accessing the local stop smoking
service from different groups and in particular
circumstances, who have distinct support
needs to quit successfully.

Encouraging healthcare clinicians to
help smokers quit
Smoking related hospital admissions and
premature preventable deaths remain very
high in Camden and Islington. In Islington
there are approximately 225 smoking-related
deaths each year, making Islington the third
highest borough for smoking-related mortality
in London. In Camden there are around 217
smoking-related deaths each year.

This comes at great cost to both the individual
and to services. Islington has the highest rate
of smoking-attributable hospital admissions
in London (2,534 per 100,000 population in
Islington versus 1,606 in London). In Camden
there are 1,774 smoking-related hospital
admissions.4
These hospital admissions are essentially
all preventable. It is estimated that annually,
smoking costs the NHS in Islington £7 million
and in Camden £6 million (and Adult Social
Care a further £3 million in each borough).5
The NHS Five Year Forward View emphasised
the importance of prevention to ensure a more
sustainable health system. Recent work of the
London Clinical Senate’s programme, ‘Helping

Smokers Quit’ has particularly highlighted the
role for clinicians to support smokers to quit
by: routinely providing advice and support,
including appropriate pharmacotherapy,
and using carbon monoxide testing as a
motivational tool.
However, to provide good support for
patients who want to quit, staff need clinical
leadership, recognising smoking cessation as
a standard part of clinical care for smokers
and adequate training (at least very brief
advice training on smoking cessation). This
needs to occur across all specialties and
include mental health and maternity settings
in particular. Where this has worked best,
it has been a collaboration between senior
clinical champions and local ward / clinic-level
champions.

Other front line staff and volunteers

The drive for both integrated health and social
care and an increased focus on prevention
within the public sector provides new
opportunities to increase the number of staff
across both the public sector and voluntary
and community sector trained in very brief
advice on smoking cessation.
Staff come from a wider array of professional
backgrounds including housing, social care
and the voluntary sector. Programmes in
Camden and Islington such as ‘Making Every
Contact Count’ offer a means of providing
good quality online and face-to-face training in
smoking cessation (and other health improving
behaviour change) to reach a wider variety of
‘front-line’ staff, who can help identify residents
who smoke and signpost them to relevant
advice and support.
Ultimately, anyone who has the opportunity
and ability to influence the health and
wellbeing of people in Camden and Islington,

Page 65

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

29

can be offered stop smoking training in very
brief advice. This includes employees in
the private sector who can champion stop
smoking messages with their customers or
clients.6

important causes of sickness absence. This
will result in improved productivity and less
costs for employers.7 The workplace has
several advantages as a setting for smoking
cessation interventions:

Employers and ‘Wellness at Work’

■■ Large numbers of people can be reached
(including groups who may not normally
consult health professionals, such as
working age men)
■■ There is the potential to provide peer
group support
■■ Seeing colleagues who are quitting
encourages people who smoke to quit

Promoting wellness at work which includes
offering opportunities for staff to reduce
smoking, have also been seen to be costeffective. Reducing levels of smoking among
employees will help reduce some illnesses
and conditions (such as cardiovascular
disease and respiratory diseases) that are

Recommendations
■■ Ensure good quality, evidence-based stop smoking service
is integrated into the wider behaviour change offer available
within both boroughs which aims to improve the health
and wellbeing of people in Camden and Islington.  These
services should be accessible to all smokers and particularly those from
lower socio-economic groups and disadvantaged populations.
■■ Develop local communications initiatives based on national campaigns like Stoptober
and No Smoking Day, to promote consistent and coordinated messages about
stop smoking support and reach high priority groups through effective, targeted
communications.
■■ Ensure that training on providing very brief advice on smoking cessation is required
of every clinician seeing Camden and Islington patients and that there is adequate
clinical leadership in every NHS organisation, both at senior and ward/clinic levels to
support this.
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe are trained and competent to prescribe smoking
cessation medication.
■■ Ensure accurate and timely information about e-cigarette use to reduce public
confusion about the relative risks of nicotine products compared to tobacco products
and allow an informed choice.
■■ Increase the number of public sector staff as well as community and voluntary
sector volunteers and staff who are trained to provide very brief advice on smoking
cessation.
■■ Use Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers to increase stop smoking
interventions by staff working with young people.
■■ Support workplace health and wellbeing, initially focusing on both boroughs’ largest
public sector employers, to reduce smoking amongst employees.

Page 66
30

7.2 Smokers
with Long Term
Conditions

continue to smoke – 34% of people with lung
cancer and 44% of people with COPD. (See
Table 7.2.1).  

Smoking can contribute to the development of
several long term conditions, and other health
problems such as coronary heart disease
(CHD) and chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease (COPD)A, as well as cause life
threatening conditions such as lung cancer.
Concurrent cannabis smoking increases the
health risks of smoking tobacco, particularly
for lung disease. Continued smoking after a
person is diagnosed worsens their outcomes,
accelerates disease progression, increases
mortality and worsens complications. Stopping
smoking greatly improves outcomes for
people with long term conditions, including
CHD, COPD, type 2 diabetes and HIV8. For
COPD, stopping smoking is a vital part of
treatment, which greatly reduces the risks of
exacerbation of the condition.9
Despite the clear evidence about the
significant negative effects of smoking on
long term conditions, significant proportions of
people with one or more long term conditions

Table 7.2.1

Condition

People with long-term conditions, such as
diabetes, asthma, CHD, are generally more
receptive to smoking cessation messages
and have higher levels of motivation to
quit10. Therefore, offering very brief advice
to smokers with long-term conditions, at the
appropriate ‘teachable moments’ during their
care pathway has many potential benefits.
The National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence (NICE) offers guidance on tobacco
and recommends that stopping smoking
should be an integral part of the management
of long term conditions, both in primary and
secondary care.11
The London Clinical Senate ‘Helping Smokers
Quit’ programme encourages clinicians to use
an exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) breath test
as a motivational tool, in addition to very brief
advice. CO testing is a proven tool in specialist
stop smoking settings. When used routinely in
the context of a supportive conversation about
smoking, it is also a useful motivational tool in
every day clinical settings.12

Smoker Smoker
Ex
ExNon
Non
Camden Islington smoker smoker smoker smoker
Camden Islington Camden Islington

Lung Cancer
(diagnosis within
last 5 years)

34%

34%

48%

51%

18%

15%

COPD

44%

44%

45%

48%

11%

7%

Diabetes

18%

19%

25%

28%

57%

52%

Hypertension

15%

17%

28%

29%

56%

53%

A. A wide range of diseases and conditions are caused by smoking, including cancers, respiratory diseases,
coronary heart and other circulatory diseases, stomach and duodenal ulcers, erectile dysfunction, infertility,
osteoporosis, cataracts, agerelated macular degeneration and periodontitis. (NICE Quality Standard QS43)

Page 67

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

31

There are examples of good practice across
local hospital (secondary care) services which
include:
■■ Whittington Health in Islington offers
specialist stop smoking advice
and treatment, to all inpatients and
outpatients, including a house visiting
service to patients with COPD, as part
of a comprehensive set of interventions
integrating the hospital and community
teams. Stop smoking specialists offer
advice and CO testing to all smokers on
the wards, as well as to outpatients and
staff. Training for health professionals
enables them to offer very brief advice to
smokers. Provision is made for nicotine
replacement therapy to be offered to
inpatients, for temporary abstinence
during their hospital stay.

■■ In Camden, the Royal Free Hospital
(RFH) and University College London
Hospitals (UCLH) are developing local
best practice, such as RFH’s in-house
stop smoking service and UCLH’s preoperative assessment pathway, which
screens and refers smokers.
It is necessary to share best practice in
embedding stop smoking interventions in
every clinical contact in secondary care, to
enhance clinical outcomes for people with
long term conditions.

Recommendations
■■ Engage primary care leads such as Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) clinical champions, Local Medical Committee (LMC) and
Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) representatives to explore
opportunities for better engagement with smoking cessation and
sharing best practice in primary care to ensure that people with long term conditions
are routinely being encouraged to quit smoking and receive the appropriate support to
do so in line with NICE tobacco guidance.
■■ Work with the clinical champion in every secondary care trust in Camden and
Islington, to lead on helping smokers quit and to consider how the London Clinical
Senate recommendations on very brief advice training and CO testing can be
implemented.
■■ Promote adherence to NICE guidance on tobacco especially aimed at secondary care
(acute, maternity and mental health services), by working with CCG commissioners
and secondary care providers.
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe are trained and competent to prescribe smoking
cessation medication.
■■ Encourage clinicians to routinely ask about cannabis use as part of their smoking
cessation discussion with their patient.

Page 68
32

7.3 Smokers with
Mental Health
conditions
While smoking rates have been steadily
falling in the general community, they remain
unacceptably high amongst people with
mental health problems. Smoking prevalence
is twice as common among people with mental
health problems, and more so in those with
more severe illness.13 People with mental
health problems use 42% of all tobacco
consumed in the UK14, due to heavier nicotine
dependency.
Contrary to the assumption that suicide is the
leading cause of death in people with mental
ill health, smoking is the biggest cause of
reduced life expectancy for people with mental
health problems, compared to the rest of the
population.15 People with mental ill health
experience substantial physical ill health
as a result of their tobacco use – related
particularly to cardiovascular and respiratory
consequences. The life expectancy of people
with serious mental illness (SMI) is estimated
to be up to 20 years less than the general
population.16 In fact, it is estimated that people
with SMI have the same life expectancy as the
general population in the 1950s.17
Not only does smoking affect the physical
health of people with mental health conditions
but it also impacts people’s mental health by
interacting with some psychiatric medication
making it less effective, resulting in increased
dosages and more side effects associated
with these drugs.

Smoking has been widely accepted and even
facilitated in many psychiatric care settings, for
many years. Staff attitudes need to change.
Smoking should not be seen as ‘normal’
behaviour, nor as an effective way for a person
to manage their mental health. A change
in psychiatric care to place more emphasis
on physical wellbeing is also necessary.
These conversations are happening at both
a national and borough level. Significantly, in
April 2015, our local mental health provider,
the Camden and Islington Foundation Trust
went smoke-free – one of the first to do this in
London.  
Smokers with mental ill health are just as likely
to want to quit as smokers without mental
ill health, but are more likely to be heavily
addicted to smoking and, historically, are
less likely to succeed when they try to quit.18
The current model of stop smoking specialist
services offers 6-8 weeks of support, provided
during weekly sessions with a trained advisor.
Smokers with mental ill health often need
substantially more support than this, including
Nicotine Replacement Therapy provided
over a longer time frame and more intensive
behavioural support.19
Younger smokers are under-represented in
the stop smoking services generally and this is
true of services for those with mental ill health:
the majority of those currently accessing
specialist services are over the age of 65 and
already experience smoking-related physical
ill health. More needs to be done to support
mentally ill smokers to quit smoking before
tobacco use impacts on their physical health.  
Early intervention is particularly important for
those with psychosis or with a serious mental
illness, as this group has particularly high
smoking rates.

Page 69
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

33

Recommendations
■■ Include stop smoking support in initiatives promoting physical
health (e.g. healthy eating, obesity support, physical activity) for
mental health service users, including young people.  
■■ Ensure specialist stop smoking services tailored to smokers with
mental ill health are available in residential care, in-patient settings
and those living independently the community, across Camden and Islington.
■■ Ensure a network of level 2 trained stop smoking advisors exists across all mental
health secondary and community care settings.
■■ All staff in mental health services are trained in very brief advice and second-hand
smoke.
■■ Work with the fire department to ensure that residential care homes comply with fire
safety standards to minimise the risks for residents who continue to smoke
■■ Ensure that in long term residential care homes all smoking takes place outside.
■■ Ensure clinicians who prescribe in mental health settings are trained and competent to
prescribe smoking cessation medication.

Page 70
34

7.4 Smokers in
Islington’s male and
female prisons
There are two Category B prisons in Islington,
HMP Pentonville for male offenders and HMP
Holloway and Young Offender Institution for
female offenders. HMP Holloway is planned
for closure in June 2016. There are no prisons
in Camden.
Smoking rates among prisoners have changed
relatively little in the last few decades: they
are estimated to be three to four times higher
(up to 80%) than the general population (18%
in England in 2014).20 There is no research
available on the prevalence of smoking among
prison staff, but it is anecdotally reported as
being near 40% which is twice as high as the
national average in the community.
A thematic report21 which analysed the
inspection reports of thirty three Category
B prisons, including HMPs Holloway and
Pentonville, published between 2009 and
2011, found that 33% of prisoners reported
mental health or emotional wellbeing issues,
one in five (22%) reported they had problems
with feeling depressed or suicidal on arrival at
prison and many reported a drug (37%) and/
or alcohol (28%) problem on arrival. There
is a higher incidence of smoking in people
with mental health and substance misuse
problems.
Both Islington prisons offer stop smoking
support to prisoners and staff. All smoking
cessation activity is recorded on the prison
database system. As per national policy,
prisoners receive a health check within 24
hours of admission and this includes Nicotine
Replacement Therapy (NRT) if they are on
a stop smoking programme or want to be.

When a prisoner is released and still in need
of treatment for stopping smoking, this is
recorded and the receiving prison will get this
information. Smokers who are returning to the
community are offered details of local stop
smoking services in their discharge pack.
Twice yearly health and wellbeing promotion
events are provided in both prisons for staff
and prisoners. Community services, including
stop smoking services, provide advice
and refer interested smokers to clinics for
support. Staff have access to in-house stop
smoking clinics or can choose to visit the local
pharmacies that offer stop smoking support,
during breaks.
At the same time that Smokefree legislation
was introduced in 2007, the Prison Service
applied for exemption stating that people in
prison should be allowed to smoke in their
cells as it is their temporary ‘home’. The
Prison Service is now actively working towards
prisons becoming completely smokefree.
International experience has shown that
people held in custody or in secure hospital
wards who are told they cannot smoke
usually adapt very well to the idea, often
making the decision to stop smoking before
they are instructed to do so. Adequate NRT
provision will need to be assured before the
smokefree agenda can be rolled across the
whole establishment. Trials are taking place
of electronic cigarettes, to assess any impact
on security and whether there is take-up and
for how long. To date experience has shown
that they are a source of interest but only short
term, as they are still being sold alongside
tobacco. Once tobacco is no longer available,
they are likely to form a useful part of the
strategy.

Page 71

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

35

Recommendations
■■ Develop stronger links between prison and in-patient psychiatric
services and the community-based stop smoking service to ensure
continuity of care, when prisoners return to the community.
■■ Explore commissioning an “in reach” service, so that when the
person is discharged they can continue to receive stop smoking
support via the same service.
■■ Establish links between homeless projects, psychiatric care and the prison service to
ensure continuity of care for Camden and Islington residents who cycle through these
three services.
■■ Strengthen the stop smoking provision across the whole criminal justice pathway, so
that those leaving prisons have access to support.
■■ Ensure that prisoners who are transferred to HMP Pentonville and HMP Holloway
(until June 2016) whilst they are quitting smoking continue to receive stop smoking
support and do not have to go onto a waiting list.
■■ All psychiatric care staff in all settings, all prison staff and homeless support workers
should be trained in very brief advice in smoking cessation and apprised of the
dangers of second hand smoke.  Any CQUIN or equivalent quality improvement
incentive for psychiatric care staff could ensure that the training is mandatory.
■■ Ensure evidence-based treatments and staff training are commissioned for HMP
Pentonville.
■■ Support HMP Pentonville to become smokefree and develop an updated smokefree
strategy.

Page 72
36

7.5 Smoking in
Pregnancy and the
Early Years
Stopping smoking is one of the most effective
interventions to improve the health of mother
and baby and prevent avoidable infant
mortality. Smoking in pregnancy is associated
with increased risk of miscarriage, perinatal
death, premature birth, low birth weight and
congenital abnormalities in the baby.22 It is
estimated that about one third of all perinatal
deaths in the UK are caused by maternal
smoking, which means approximately 300
deaths per year. Smoking during and after
pregnancy also increases the risk of sudden
infant death syndrome (SIDS).23
Camden and Islington both have a higher rate
of smoking in pregnancy than the London
average (5.1%): 5.5% in Camden24 and 7.7%
in Islington.25

smoking. Many of those who successfully
stop smoking during their pregnancy go
back to smoking within six months of giving
birth.28 The attitude of the family, including the
woman’s partner towards smoking, can have
an effect on the mother’s smoking behavior
which will impact the health of the whole
family.
Health care professionals, such as health
visitors and other professionals working
with pregnant women and families in the
early years, have a key role in supporting
smokefree environments for families. The
focus should not be only on the mother.
Partners and other family members should
also be offered information on second hand
smoke and support to stop smoking. Section
8.1 outlines our approach to smokefree
homes.

Smoking during pregnancy contributes to
health inequalities because of the increased
smoking prevalence among people living in
deprived areas, women who are less educated
or in routine and manual occupations.26 Many
teenage women smoke in pregnancy. Women
aged 20 or younger are more than three times
as likely than those over 35 to smoke during
their pregnancy.27 Those in routine and manual
occupations are more than four times as
likely as those in managerial and professional
occupations to smoke in pregnancy.
Stopping smoking in pregnancy can be
challenging. Only a small number of pregnant
women take up the offer of help to stop

Page 73
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

37

Recommendations
■■ Reduce smoking amongst pregnant women to 3% in Camden and
5% in Islington by 2021.
■■ Promote adherence to NICE guidance on tobacco in all maternity
services in Camden and Islington caring for pregnant women and
following childbirth.
■■ Ensure pregnant women accessing maternity care are routinely
screened with a carbon monoxide (CO) monitor by midwifery staff who are equipped,
trained and with adequate time, and that pregnant women who smoke are referred to
stop smoking services, as part of their care pathway.
■■ Early years services commissioning should explore the role of health visitors and
other professionals in supporting pregnant women and families with young children to
stop smoking.

Page 74
38

7.6 Young People
Smoking is a childhood addiction. About
two-thirds of adult smokers report they took
up smoking before the age of 18.29 The 2011
General Lifestyle Survey of adult smokers
showed that almost 40% were smoking
regularly before the age of 16.30
Nationally, the proportion of children who
smoke continues to decline. Among 15 year
olds, 8% smoked in 2014, compared with 20%
in 2006.31 In Camden 7.1% of 15 year olds
smoke and 9.4% smoke in Islington.32
The younger people are when they start
smoking the greater the harm is likely to be.
Early initiation of smoking is associated with
subsequent heavier smoking, higher levels
of dependency, lower chances of quitting and
higher mortality.33

People who start smoking in adolescence
are more likely to become life-long smokers
than those who start smoking in their 20′s or
later.37 Young smokers can become addicted
to nicotine very quickly. In some people,
symptoms of nicotine addiction can appear
within days of occasional (not daily) smoking.38
A study of brain reactivity in teenagers who
smoke fewer than five cigarettes a day
showed that there are signs of addiction even
at this low level of smoking.39 During periods
of abstinence, young people experience
withdrawal symptoms similar to those
experienced by adult smokers.40
Access to stop smoking services by teenage
smokers has been historically low. It is
important to develop innovative approaches
which will ensure young smokers have the
best possible chances to quit smoking, before
it becomes a life-long habit and impacts on
their health.

Childhood smokers are at high risk of
immediate health problems, including
respiratory illness such as coughing,
wheezing and phlegm. Smoking can also
lead to impaired lung growth in children and
young adults.34 Smoking aggravates asthma
symptoms in those already diagnosed and
increases the risk of asthma in young people
with no history of the condition.35 The earlier
children become regular smokers the greater
the risk of developing lung cancer or heart
disease, if they continue to smoke as adults.36

Page 75
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

39

Recommendations
■■ Understand the needs of staff working in children’s centres and
schools when talking to parents and children who smoke and
provide tailor-made training to enable those conversations.
■■ Showcase successes of staff working in challenging settings where
views on smoking are entrenched and share good practice.
■■ Target vulnerable children who smoke, by working with social services, youth
offending service, pupil referral units and looked after children nurses and enable staff
to give appropriate advice and support.
■■ Create innovative partnerships to reach young people 16 or older, such as with
student unions, leisure centres and privately owned gyms.
■■ Conduct insight research to target resources where young people are likely to get
advice and support about stopping smoking.
■■ Work with the youth offending service in Camden and Islington to promote smoking
cessation to young offenders.
■■ Encourage responsible retailer practices, such as not selling tobacco near schools.
■■ Ensure tobacco retailers near schools are fully compliant with new legislation on
tobacco displays in shops, as a priority.
■■ Explore the provision of specialist stop smoking services for children, young people
and their families.

Page 76
40

References
1.

West R/ McEwen A (ed). Stop smoking services:
increased chances of quitting. National Centre
for Smoking Cessation and Training. Briefing: 8.
[Online] 2012. Available from: http://www.ncsct.
co.uk/usr/pub/Briefing%208.pdf
2. Shahab L/ McEwen A, Alley K (eds). Effectiveness
and cost-effectiveness of programmes to help
smokers to stop and prevent smoking uptake at
local level. National Centre for Smoking Cessation
and Training. [Online] 2015. Available from: http://
www.ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/NCSCT%20briefingeffectiveness%20of%20local%20cessation%20
and%20prevention.pdf
3. Taylor D, Craig T, Gill J et al. Will smoking meet its
match? UCL School of Pharmacy. 2015. Available
from: https://www.ucl.ac.uk/pharmacy/documents/
smoking-launch
4. Public Health England. Local Tobacco Control
Profiles. Available from http://www.tobaccoprofiles.
info/profile/tobacco-control/data
5. Action for Smoking and Health Ready Reckoner
v.4.6 27 August 2015. Available from: ash.org.uk/
localtoolkit/docs/Reckoner.xls
6. Royal Society for Public Health. Rethinking the
public health workforce 2015. [Online] Available
from: http://www.rsph.org.uk/filemanager/root/site_
assets/our_work/wider_public_health_workforce/
rsph_widerworkforce_report_final.pdf
7. National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence. Workplace interventions to promote
smoking cessation. PH5; [Online] 2007. Available
from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph5
8. Siddiqi K, Dogar OF, Siddiqi N. Smoking Cessation
in Long Term Conditions – Is there ‘An Opportunity
in Every Difficulty’? International Journal of
Population Research [Online] 2013; 2013: 1-10.
Available from: doi:10.1155/2013/251048.
9. Garvey C, Ortiz G. Exacerbations of chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease. The Open Nursing
Journal 2012; 6:13-19.
10. Siddiqi K, Dogar OF, Siddiqi N. Smoking Cessation
in Long Term Conditions – Is there ‘An Opportunity
in Every Difficulty’? International Journal of
Population Research [Online] 2013; 2013: 1-10.
Available from: doi:10.1155/2013/251048.
11. National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence. Smoking Cessation: supporting people
to stop smoking. QS43; [Online] 2015. Available
from: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs43/
resources/guidance-smoking-cessation-supportingpeople-to-stop-smoking-pdf

12. London Clinical Senate. Helping Smokers Quit.
The expired carbon monoxide (CO) test. Guidance
for health professionals. Available from: http://www.
londonsenate.nhs.uk/helping-smokers-quit/
13. Royal College of Physicians and the Royal
College of Psychiatrists (2013). Smoking and
Mental Health. 2013. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/smoking_and_
mental_health_-_key_recommendations.pdf
14. McManus S, Meltzer H, Campion J. Cigarette
Smoking and Mental Health in England. Data
from the Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2007.
National Centre for Social Research. 2010.
15. Bristow S. Nicotine Management Strategy 20142016. Camden and Islington NHS Foundation
Trust. 2014.
16. Chief Medical Officer’s Annual Report: Public
Mental Health Priorities: Investing in the Evidence
2013.Available from: https://www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/351629/Annual_report_2013_1.pdf
[Accessed 6th November 2014]
17. While D, Bickley H, Roscoe A, Windfuhr K, Rahman
S, Shaw J, Appleby L, Kapur N. Implementation of
mental health service recommendations in England
and Wales and suicide rates, 1997-2006: a cross
sectional and before-and-after observational study.
The Lancet 2012, Mar 17;379 (9820)
18. Royal College of Physicians and the Royal College
of Psychiatrists. Smoking and Mental Health. 2013.  
Available from: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/
default/files/smoking_and_mental_health_-_key_
recommendations.pdf
19. College of Psychiatrists. Smoking and Mental
Health. 2013. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/smoking_and_
mental_health_-_key_recommendations.pdf
20. Public Health England. Reducing smoking in
prisons. Management of tobacco use and nicotine
withdrawal. 2015.
21. HM Inspectorate of Prisons. Remand Prisoners.
A Thematic Review. 2012. Available from: https://
www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprisons/
inspections/remand-prisoners/#.Ve2IWYd0zUB
22. British Medical Association. Smoking and
reproductive life. The impact of smoking on
sexual, reproductive and child health. 2004.
Available from: http://bmaopac.hosted.
exlibrisgroup.com/exlibris/aleph/a21_1/apache_
media/8XCT9VIM5S2SDTUIK UAXD5KQPD1D3G.
pdf
23. The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf

Page 77
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

41

24. Public Health England. Camden Health Profile
2015. Available from: www.apho.org.uk
25. Camden and Islington Public Health. Focus on
Smoking October 2014. Available from: http://
evidencehub.islington.gov.uk
26. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.
Quitting smoking in pregnancy and following
childbirth. PH26; [Online] 2010. Available from:
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph26
27. McAndrew F, Thompson J, Fellows L et al (2012).
Infant feeding survey 2010. A survey conducted
on behalf of the Information Centre for Health and
Social Care. Leeds: The Information Centre for
Health and Social Care
28. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.
Quitting smoking in pregnancy and following
childbirth. PH26; [Online] 2010. Available from:
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph26
29. Robinson S, Bugler C. Smoking and drinking
among adults. General Lifestyle Survey 2008.
Office for National Statistics. [Online] 2010.
Available from: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/ghs/
general-lifestyle-survey/2008-report/smoking-anddrinking-among-adults--2008.pdf
30. Office for National Statistics. Smoking. General
Lifestyle Survey Overview: A report on the
2011 General Lifestyle Survey. [Online] 2013.
Available from: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/
dcp171776_302558.pdf
31. Action for Smoking and Health. Young People
and Smoking. ASH Factsheet 108; [Online] 2015.
Available from: http://ash.org.uk/files/documents/
ASH_108.pdf
32. Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health
and Wellbeing of 15 year olds in England: Smoking
Prevalence - Findings from the What About YOUth?
Survey 2014. [Online] 2015 Available from: http://
www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB17984
33. The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf
34. Muller T. Breaking the cycle of children’s exposure
to tobacco smoke. British Medical Association.
2007. Available from http://bmaopac.hosted.
exlibrisgroup.com/exlibris/aleph/a21_1/apache_
media/GR3GIR2QERK36MDPMLKEJ7AFL6AD8A.
pdf
35. Action on Smoking and Health. Asthma and
Smoking. Research Report 595; 2015. Available
from: http://ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH_595.
pdf

36. Muller T. Breaking the cycle of children’s exposure
to tobacco smoke. British Medical Association.
2007. Available from: http://bmaopac.hosted.
exlibrisgroup.com/exlibris/aleph/a21_1/apache_
media/GR3GIR2QERK36MDPMLKEJ7AFL6AD8A.
pdf
37. Taioli E, Wynder EL. Effect of the age at which
smoking begins on frequency of smoking in
adulthood. New England Journal of Medicine 1991;
325(13): 968–969.
38. DiFranza JR, Rigotti NA, McNeill AD, Ockene
JK, Savageau JA, St Cyr D, Coleman M. Initial
symptoms of nicotine dependence in adolescents.
Tobacco Control 2000; 9: 313-319.
39. Rubinstein ML, Luks TL, Moscicki AB, Dryden W,
Rait MA, Simpson GV. Smoking-cue induced brain
activation in adolescent light smokers. Journal of
Adolescent Health 2011; 48(1): 7-12.
40. McNeill AD et al. Cigarette withdrawal symptoms in
adolescent smokers. Psychopharmacology 1986;
90: 533-536.

Page 78
42

8
Reducing related harm
Tobacco use affects not only smokers and
their families, but has multiples impacts across
the whole society. To reduce the tobacco
related harms for Camden and Islington
communities we will focus on five areas:

8.1	Smokefree environments
8.2 Smoking related litter
8.3 Illicit tobacco
8.4 Shisha
8.5 Electronic cigarettes

8.1 Smokefree
environments
Focus on children
One of the aims of this strategy is to protect
children from the risks caused by exposure
to second hand smoke. The Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16, outlined a vision
to ensure every child has the best start in life.
Growing up in an environment free of tobacco
smoke is a key aspect of that ambition, as
children’s health and life can be put at risk
from second hand smoke.
Existing smokefree legislation protects
children from tobacco smoke in enclosed
public spaces and from 1st October 2015, also
in private vehicles. The principal source of
exposure to second hand smoke for children

remains the home.1 In Camden, almost a
third of school children surveyed in 2015 said
they are exposed to secondhand smoke at
home. Three in twenty (15%) primary school
children and one in five secondary school
children (20%) are exposed to smoking every
day in their homes. Another three in twenty
(14%) primary school and one in eight (12%)
secondary school children are exposed
weekly or monthly. In Islington, three in twenty
primary school pupils (16%) and one in five
secondary school pupils (21%) surveyed in
2015, said they are exposed to smoking in the
home every day. Another three in twenty are
exposed more infrequently, weekly or monthly
(15% in primary school and 14% in secondary
school).2
Most adult smokers are aware that second
hand smoke is a danger to children and
claim to do everything they can to minimise
their smoking around children.3 However, the
children of smokers continue to experience
high levels of exposure to second hand
smoke,4 so more must be done to encourage
these parents to refrain from smoking around
their children and, at best, stop smoking
altogether.
Exposure to second hand smoke in the early
years not only has a significant impact on the
health of a child but continues to impact their
health into adulthood.5  Children exposed to
second hand smoke are at increased risk of
asthma6, chest infections such as bronchitis7,

Page 79

Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

43

middle ear disease8, sudden infant death
syndrome9 and meningitis.10 Childhood
exposure to second hand smoke is also
responsible for impaired mental development11
and can exacerbate existing chronic
conditions such as sickle cell anaemia.12
There is also evidence which suggests that
children exposed to second hand smoke are
at increased risk of developing lung cancer
and emphysema in adulthood.13 14 15
Children who grow up with smokers
are 90% more likely to take up smoking
themselves.16 17
Since smoking is strongly linked to
deprivation, children living in social housing
are much more likely to live with smokers
than children in higher socio-economic groups
and therefore more likely to become smokers
themselves.

with huge support from the public. 94% of
playground users surveyed, 40% of which
were smokers, supported the voluntary ban
of smoking in the playground and no-one
opposed it. Camden’s park playgrounds are
also smokefree.

The wider environment
Having smokefree grounds in Council and
NHS-owned premises and other employer
premises gives a strong message about
the dangers of smoking and second hand
smoke. It also prevents smoke from drifting
into open doors and windows, where it can
cause harm and nuisance, and reduces fire
risks. Furthermore, non-smoking environments
encourage people to stop smoking or can
result in more smokers voluntarily making their
homes smokefree.18

It is our ambition to de-normalise smoking
for children, by creating environments where
children are not exposed to smoking; not only
in the home but also outside schools and in
playgrounds. Islington launched smokefree
playgrounds in all Council parks in 2014-15

Page 80
44

Recommendations
■■ Raise awareness of the ban of smoking in cars with children,
with parents, children and staff (traffic wardens, road safety units,
sustainable travel officers).
■■ Continue to support national smokefree homes and cars
awareness campaigns.
■■ Continue to de-normalise smoking by reducing smoking around children: smoking
and cigarette litter is out of sight of school gates and playgrounds in Council parks,
housing estates and adventure playgrounds. This work, already under way in Islington
will be developed in Camden. If successful, in both boroughs, we will look to expand
the number and nature of public spaces e.g. public squares, to further de-normalise
smoking in public for all ages.
■■ Work with partners of Islington’s “First 21 Months” and Camden’s “A Thousand and
One Days”  programme teams, to increase the uptake of smokefree homes.
■■ Use Healthy Settings Awards as one of the drivers to create smokefree environments
for young people and their families.
■■ Work with partners to increase smokefree outdoor environments in Camden and
Islington, as part of organisational smokefree policies; such as implementing
smokefree hospital grounds.
■■ Work with employers to support the smokefree element of the London Healthy
Workplace Charter awards.

Page 81
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

45

8.2 Smoking litter
Cleaning up cigarette-related litter is a
significant problem in the UK, accounting
for 70-90% of street litter in urban areas.19
Cigarette butts are the most common item of
litter in both boroughs with an annual street
cleaning bill between £7.5 and £9 million
in Camden and £3.5 in Islington.20 21 That
is money we would rather spend improving
services in the local community and so we are
exploring new ways of encouraging smokers
to dispose of their butts responsibly.
Islington and Camden Councils enforce
littering legislation using fixed penalty notices.
Both councils have set the level of fixed
penalty fines at the highest permitted level,
with penalties for dropping litter, including

cigarette butts, set at £80 or £50 if the fine
is paid within 10 days. In 2011-12, Islington
Council issued 2,348 penalty notices to
smokers who littered.
The concept of ‘the polluter pays’ is gathering
momentum in the UK with the national
government considering a proposal to
introduce a levy on the tobacco industry to
pay for the damage they cause.22 We support
this proposal. The majority of our residents
do not smoke yet foot the bill for cleaning up
after our smoking residents and visitors. That
is not right. Those responsible for damaging
our environment should be required to pay for
the clean-up. This doesn’t just mean individual
smokers. Businesses and organisations
should make sure that the areas around their
premises, which are used for smoking by their
customers and staff, are kept free of litter.

Recommendations
■■ Continue working with smokers of all ages to reduce smokingrelated litter in Camden and Islington with a combination of
education and enforcement activities.
■■ Continue partnership work between Camden Environment services
and local schools to raise awareness amongst our younger residents
about the impact of litter in the borough and show them that tobacco also damages
the environment.
■■ Introduce an innovative scheme, already in operation in other London local authorities,
such as Enfield and Haringey: a smoker who is issued a fixed penalty notice for
littering smoking material can complete a course with the local Stop Smoking Service
as an alternative to a fine.
■■ Work with local businesses to ensure that staff on smoking breaks dispose cigarette
butts responsibly and customers do not litter when sitting in outdoor areas, such as
pubs and cafes.

Page 82
46

8.3 Illicit Tobacco
In 2015, it was estimated that around 10% of
all cigarettes and 39% of hand-rolled tobacco
consumed in the UK in 2013-14 were illicit.
Nearly half of this is counterfeit tobacco
produced for the illicit market. The cost to
society amounts not only to lost tax revenue
but also to crime. The profits from illicit trade
are pocketed by organised criminal groups,
such as gangs, which cause further harm to
society through other criminal activities such
as drug smuggling and human trafficking.23
The cost of buying illicit tobacco can be as
little as half the cost of legitimate products.
Smoking is much more prevalent in deprived
communities. Where cheap illicit tobacco
is available it is likely to encourage people
to start and continue smoking. This further
increases health inequalities caused by
tobacco use in poorer communities.

In a survey conducted in 2015 in seven North
East and North Central London boroughs
including Camden and Islington, 627
respondents (52%) thought that availability
of cheap tobacco makes it more difficult
to quit and 56% believed that it makes it
easier for children to start smoking. Four in
ten respondents agreed that cheap tobacco
makes it possible to smoke, when otherwise
they could not afford to.24
Illegal cigarettes do not meet Reduced
Propensity Cigarettes regulations introduced
in 2011 and cause a significant number of
domestic fires and deaths.
The London Health Commission report
recommended that the Mayor launches a
crackdown on the trafficking and selling
of illegal tobacco.25 The research report
commissioned for the South East London
Illegal Tobacco Cluster recommended that
a cross-borough and ideally regional multiagency cooperation is needed to tackle illicit
trade.26

Recommendations
■■ Camden and Islington Trading Standards should continue to play a lead role in the
newly established North East North Central London Illicit Tobacco Cluster Group
to develop a cross-borough approach to dealing with the problem of illicit tobacco
sales.  The group includes Trading Standards representatives from Camden, Islington,
Haringey, Enfield, Hackney, Waltham Forest and Tower Hamlets.  
■■ Further develop links with the South East London Illicit Tobacco Group with the
long-term aim of developing a pan-London approach to dealing with the sale of illicit
tobacco, to work more closely with HMRC and Border Control.
■■ Continue to build on successes in reducing the number of underage sales and the
amount of illicit tobacco on sale, by continuing strong enforcement and continue to
identify priority areas to target and develop a method for local residents to provide
intelligence.
■■ Work in partnership with the schools’ health and wellbeing teams to raise awareness
about illicit tobacco amongst young people (and their parents) and to remind young
people that shisha is tobacco – it is not always labelled that way and young people in
particular are unaware that they are consuming tobacco, often illegally imported.

Page 83
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

47

8.4 Shisha
In Camden and Islington there is widespread
compliance with smokefree laws since the
legislation was widely welcomed by the public
and most businesses. However, the recent
proliferation of shisha premises has seen
an increase in businesses allowing smoking
in enclosed spaces in contravention of the
smokefree laws.
Shisha has been traditionally used within
specific communities, but in London, as in
other large cities, shisha use appears to be
increasingly popular amongst all ethnic groups
and especially with young people. Recent
research in South London suggested that
shisha smoking is now endemic in London and
a public health issue.27
Shisha smoking can take place while
socialising, for example in a shisha café and
in the home. Shisha produces second-hand
smoke, so when it is used in public spaces,
it is covered by the smokefree legislation,
whether or not it contains tobacco.
In the last few years, the numbers of shisha
cafes or bars in Camden have been on the
increase. In 2013, shisha premises in Camden

had increased from 12 to 16 in two years.
However, in September 2015, 12 premises
were known to be operating. In Islington, as
a result of proactive monitoring of premises,
they decreased from 27 in 2012 to 12 in 2013
and 6 in September 2015.
In Camden and Islington, we have forged a
multi-team approach with Trading Standards,
the Environmental Health teams, Licensing
teams, Fire Brigade and the local Police. We
are addressing enforcement of legislation
relating to the sale of shisha products
containing tobacco, either pre-packaged or
prepared for smoking in shisha premises.
We are also ensuring premises do not
flout the laws prohibiting shisha smoking in
enclosed spaces and do not sell to underage
customers.
Islington Council, which has seen a decrease
in the number of shisha premises, has largely
resolved the problem of non-compliant
premises, through a combination of user
education as to the health effects, early advice
to businesses thinking about shisha as a
business model, close community liaison,
multi-agency working and, where necessary, a
robust approach to enforcement where there
is persistent non-compliance with smokefree
and other laws.

Page 84
48

Recommendations
■■ Camden and Islington should continue to have a proactive and
preventive multi-team approach to monitor shisha premises
with routine visits, until they comply with legislation or else stop
selling shisha. They should continue to take action when shisha
premises are breaking the law, such as allowing smoking shisha and/
or
cigarettes indoors, or not providing the required warning labels associated with the
sale of tobacco. They should continue to identify shisha cafes which routinely allow
underage customers and take enforcement action.
■■ In Camden, map the location of shisha cafes to identify their proximity to local schools.
Trading Standards and the healthy schools team should raise awareness with children
and their parents that shisha tobacco is not always labelled that way, so young people
in particular may be unaware they are consuming tobacco.

Page 85
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

49

8.5 Electronic
cigarettes
Electronic cigarettes (ECs), also marketed
as ‘e-shisha’ or ‘shisha sticks or pens’
are currently the subject of national and
international debate, regarding their
regulation, effectiveness for smoking
cessation and potential to attract nonsmokers, especially young people, to tobacco,
acting as a ‘gateway’ to smoking.
The use of ECs (or ‘vaping’) has grown
threefold in the last two years in the UK; 2.6
million adults use them, almost all of whom
are smokers or ex-smokers but use among
young people is rare (2% monthly and 0.5%
weekly use).28 In a 2014 national survey of
15 year olds, 18% had tried e-cigarettes.This
is not significantly different to 2015 survey
results for Year 10 pupils in Camden (20%)
or Islington (18%).29 The national survey
indicates that most young people use them
once or twice and only 3% are currently using
one.30
The increasing popularity of ECs and use in
public spaces has caused concern because
of the potential to re-introduce smoking
behaviours in smokefree environments.
However, there is no current evidence in
England that ECs are re-normalising smoking
or increasing smoking uptake.31 ECs have
become the most popular quitting aid used by
smokers.32  Thus, they have great potential to
help people who want to quit but who cannot
overcome their addiction to nicotine to reduce
or stop smoking cigarettes, and in doing so,
reduce the burden of smoking-related disease
and death.
A recent independent evidence review by
Public Health England (PHE) concluded that

although ECs are not completely risk free,
evidence shows they carry just a fraction of
the harm compared to smoking. The current
best estimate is that EC use is around 95%
less harmful to health than smoking. There is
no identified risk to bystanders from nicotine
released when vaping, as the amounts are
negligible.33
Under the current regulatory system, individual
EC products vary considerably in quality and
specification.34 They are currently subject to
regulations relating to general product safety,
but there has been criticism of the quality
of devices, some of which have leaked or
malfunctioned, often causing fires. In addition
labelling issues (such as nicotine levels) have
been identified in cartridges and e-liquids35,
including in the research completed by
Camden Trading Standards of products sold in
the borough of Camden.
Nicotine-containing ECs are not currently
licensed as medicines and are sold without
the safeguards built into the regulation of
medicinal products. From 20th May 2016
ECs will come under the revised EU Tobacco
Products Directive, except where therapeutic
claims are made or they contain over 20
mg/ml of nicotine, when they will require
medicines authorisation36.  In the UK, the
Medical Healthcare Regulatory Agency
(MHRA) can regulate nicotine products as
medicines and it is expected that some
products will be authorised in 2015. Following
the introduction of the Tobacco Products
Directive, ECs which are not licensed under
MHRA will be more strictly regulated, including
improved safety and quality requirements,
such as child/ tamper proof packaging for
e-liquids, and new packaging and labelling
requirements.37 Restrictions on their sale to
young people under 18 years of age came into
effect on 1st October 2015.

Page 86
50

The stop smoking services in Camden and
Islington are actively supporting smokers who
use ECs as part of their quit attempt, with
behavioural support and advice on licensed
medications. NHS stop smoking advisors
cannot currently prescribe un-licensed ECs as
stop smoking aids.
Camden and Islington Public Health issued a
position statement on ECs in April 2014. It was
reviewed in December 2015, in light of PHE’s
evidence update:

“On balance, having reviewed the evidence,
we must consider how we can exploit the
potential benefits of ECs in helping smokers
quit while building in safeguards to monitor
issues such as the safety and quality of the
products currently available, promotion to
children (and any related potential uptake
in tobacco smoking) and their effect on
smokefree legislation.”

Recommendations
■■ In line with PHE guidance, welcome the use of ECs by existing
smokers who make a quit attempt and support smokers further
to quit tobacco products using our evidence-based stop smoking
services.
■■ Respond pro-actively to emerging new evidence on ECs and to future availability of
licensed products to be used as stop smoking aids.
■■ Ensure our stop smoking services and all professionals in Camden and Islington
providing Level 2 stop smoking advice are equipped to give up-to-date information
about the relative risks of nicotine and all nicotine-containing products (including ECs),
based on national guidance and regulation.
■■ Continue to monitor the sale of ECs and ensure that sellers comply with new and
existing legislation (for example under-age sales) and with safety regulations, in
particular regarding unsafe chargers.  Explore potential for partnership work with the
Fire Service.

Page 87
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

51

References
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf
Data from the Health Related Behaviour
Questionnaire (HRBQ) survey 2015, carried out
in primary and secondary schools in Camden and
Islington. For more information contact:
Gill Morris (Camden Council): gill.morris@camden.
gov.uk; Helen Cameron (Islington Council):
helen.cameron@islington.gov.uk
Office for National Statistics. Opinions Survey
Report No. 40. Smoking-related behaviour and
attitudes 2008/2009. 2009. Available from: http://
www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/lifestyles/smoking-relatedbehaviour-and-attitudes/2008-09/index.html
Akhtar PC, Haw SJ, Currie DB, Zachary R,
Currie CE. Smoking restrictions in the home and
secondhand smoke exposure among primary
schoolchildren before and after introduction of the
Scottish smoke-free legislation. Tobacco Control
[Online] 2009; 18(5):409-15. Available from: doi:
10.1136/tc.2009.030627.
Lovasi GS, Diez Roux AV, Hoffman EA, et al.
Association of Environmental Tobacco Smoke
Exposure in Childhood with Early Emphysema in
Adulthood Among Nonsmokers. American Journal
of Epidemiology [Online] 2010; 171(1):54-62.
Available from: doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp358. Epub
2009 Nov 25.

Cabana M, Birk N, Slish K, et al. Exposure to
tobacco smoke and chronic asthma symptoms.
Pediatric Asthma Allergy and Immunology 2005; 18
(4): 180-188.
World Health Organisation. International
Consultation on Environmental Tobacco Smoke
(ETS) and Child Health. Consultation Report.
[Online] January 1999. Available from: www.who.
int/tobacco/research/en/ets_report.pdf
The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf
The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf

10. Muller T. Breaking the cycle of children’s exposure
to tobacco smoke. British Medical Association.
2007. Available from: http://bmaopac.hosted.
exlibrisgroup.com/exlibris/aleph/a21_1/apache_
media/GR3GIR2QERK36MDPMLKEJ7AFL6AD8A.
pdf
11. Yolton K, Dietrich K, Auinger P et al. Exposure
to environmental tobacco smoke and cognitive
abilities among US children and adolescents.
Environmental Health Perspectives 2005; 113(1):
98–103.
12. Best D. Secondhand and prenatal tobacco smoke
exposure. Pediatrics 2009; 124; e1017-e1044;
originally published online Oct 19, 2009.
13. International Agency for Research on Cancer.
Personal habits and indoor combustions.
Volume 100E: A review of human carcinogens.
Secondhand Smoke. World Health Organisation.
2012. Available from: http://monographs.iarc.fr/
ENG/Monographs/vol100E/mono100E-7.pdf
14. Hemminki K, Chen B. Parental lung cancer as
predictor of cancer risks of offspring: clues about
multiple routes of harmful influence? International
Journal of Cancer 2006; 118 (3): 744-748.
15. Lovasi GS, Diez Roux AV, Hoffman EA, et al.
Association of Environmental Tobacco Smoke
Exposure in Childhood with Early Emphysema in
Adulthood Among Nonsmokers. American Journal
of Epidemiology [Online] 2010; 171(1):54-62.
Available from: doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp358. Epub
2009 Nov 25.
16. The Royal College of Physicians. Passive
smoking and children. A report of the Tobacco
Advisory Group. 2010. Available from: https://www.
rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/documents/
passive-smoking-and-children.pdf
17. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
Exposure to second-hand smoke among students
aged 13–15 years – worldwide, 2000– 2007.
Morbity & Mortality Weekly Report 2007; 56: 497–
500. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/
preview/mmwrhtml/mm5620a2.htm
18. Action for Smoking and Health. Smoking Still
Kills; Protecting Children, Reducing Inequalities.
Executive Summary. [Online] 2015 Available from:
http://www.ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH_963.
pdf
19. Department for the Environment, Food and
Rural Affairs. Preventing cigarette litter in
England: guidelines for local authorities.
[Online] 2007. Available from: http://www.
keepbritaintidy.org/Documents/Products/
Files/662358db_2aef_4319_9cdb_bc58350eea09.
pdf
20. https://www.camden.gov.uk/ccm/content/transportand-streets/clean-streets/clean-streets-in-camden.
en?page=1

Page 88
52

21. http://www.smokefreeislington.nhs.uk/aboutsmokefree-islington/cleaner-greener/
22. A Government consultation ran from December
2014 to February 2015. Available from: https://
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/tobacco-levy
23. HM Revenue & Customs. Tackling Illicit Tobacco:
from leaf to light. The HMRC and Border Force
strategy to tackle tobacco smuggling. 2015.
Available from https://www.gov.uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/418732/Tackling_illicit_tobacco_-_From_leaf_
to_light__2015_.pdf
24. Stewart, G. Yoshizaki, M. Illicit and illegal tobacco
in North Central and North East London. A report
on smokers’ perceptions, supply and demand.
[Online] 2015. Available from: http://www.
tradingstandards.uk/policy/illegaltobacco.cfm
25. London Health Commission. Better Health
for London. 2014. Available from: http://www.
londonhealthcommission.org.uk/wp-content/
uploads/London-Health-Commission_BetterHealth-for-London.pdf
26. Power G. Illicit Tobacco in South East London: A
Survey of Smokers. ‘Tobacco, Crime and Health
Inequalities in South East London’. [Online] 2013.
Available from: https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/
default/files/ssh-illicit-tobacco-survey-report.pdf
27. Power G. Shisha Smoking in South East London.
A cross-population survey of shisha use and
awareness in South East London. [Online] 2014.
Available from: http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/
default/files/ssh-shisha-smoking.pdf
28. McNeill A et al. E-cigarettes: An evidence update.
Public Health England 2015. Available from: https://
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_an_
evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_
Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf
29. Data from the Health Related Behaviour
Questionnaire (HRBQ) survey 2015, carried out
in primary and secondary schools in Camden and
Islington. For more information contact:
Gill Morris (Camden Council): gill.morris@camden.
gov.uk; Helen Cameron (Islington Council):
helen.cameron@islington.gov.uk
30. Health and Social Care Information Centre. Health
and Wellbeing of 15 year olds in England: Smoking
Prevalence – Findings from the What About
YOUth? Survey 2014. Available from: http://www.
hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB17984/what-aboutyouth-eng-2014-smok-rep.pdf 2. HRBQ

31. M
 cNeill A et al. E-cigarettes: An evidence update.
Public Health England 2015. Available from: https://
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_an_
evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_
Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf
32. Smoking Toolkit Study [Online] www.
smokinginengland.info
33. McNeill A et al. E-cigarettes: An evidence update.
Public Health England 2015. Available from: https://
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_an_
evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_
Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf
34. McNeill A et al. E-cigarettes: An evidence update.
Public Health England 2015. Available from: https://
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/457102/Ecigarettes_an_
evidence_update_A_report_commissioned_by_
Public_Health_England_FINAL.pdf
35. McRobbie H/ McEwen A (ed). Electronic Cigarettes.
National Centre for Smoking Cessation and
Training. Briefing; 2014. Available from: http://www.
ncsct.co.uk/usr/pub/e-cigarette_briefing.pdf
36. Action for Smoking and Health. Regulating Nicotine
Products [Online]. Available from: http://www.
ash.org.uk/current-policy-issues/harm-reductionproduct-regulation/regulating-nicotine-products
37. European Commission Memo. Questions and
Answers: New rules for tobacco products 26
February 2014 [Online]. Available from:
http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-14134_en.htm

Page 89
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

53

9
Conclusion
This Camden and Islington Tobacco Control
Strategy 2016-2021 aims to address the
ongoing public health challenge of tobacco
use, through three strands of work: closing
the gateways in, helping people out and
reducing related harm. Our aim is that the rate
of smokers in the population will fall to 13% in
Camden and 16% in Islington by 2021.
Whilst smoking prevalence has been steadily
decreasing nationally and to some extent in
Camden, it has remained stubbornly stable in
Islington in particular since 2010. A sustained
focus on tackling tobacco is essential.  We
also need to increase our focus on addressing
health inequalities caused by smoking by
targeting the most disadvantaged areas and
groups and promoting a smokefree start in life
for young families.

To translate this strategy into action, a delivery
plan will be developed by Camden and
Islington Smokefree Alliance partners, who
will monitor and oversee the tobacco control
programmes outlined in the strategy over the
next 5 years. Working with our Health and
Wellbeing Boards, we will strengthen existing
partnerships and engage new partners – the
public and voluntary sector as well as statutory
authority groups, to ensure we are on track.
We would therefore encourage you to support
this strategy’s work, supporting Camden and
Islington in our journey to being smokefree by
2030.

Success cannot be achieved without looking
at the bigger picture and ensuring that
our plans complement and reinforce each
other. Leadership from the NHS and Local
Authorities and making the best use of our
resources are key ingredients in implementing
the recommendations of this strategy
effectively. However, it is also important to
engage communities with the right messages,
in order to shift social attitudes amongst the
groups with higher smoking rates and make it
the normal thing not to smoke.

Page 90
54

Project Team
Project Lead

Marina Chrysou
Camden and Islington Public Health/Whittington Health
Thank you to Verena Thompson who led the initial phase of development of this work.

Chapter writing and data analysis
Kate Alley
Dr Liz Brutus
Minkyoung Choi
Marina Chrysou
Victoria Makepeace-Warren
Lea Siba

Camden and Islington Public Health
Camden and Islington Public Health
Camden and Islington Public Health
Camden and Islington Public Health/ Whittington Health
Camden and Islington Public Health
Camden and Islington Public Health

Contributors

Thank you to the following Camden & Islington Smokefree Alliance (CISA) partners, Clinicians  
Helping Camden & Islington Smokers Quit group and stakeholders, for their contributions in
developing this document and comments on the final draft:
Kevin Blenkinsopp
Simon Bristow
Helen Cameron
Sandra Chakara
Suzy Dymond-White
Stephanie Duckworth Porras
Fiona Exley
Belinda Green
Dr Neil Gupta
Martin Harland
Donna Harrison
David Hunt
Vincent James
Winston Labarr
Robert Loton
Doug Love
Brian McKenna
Helen Michael
Gill Morris
Mike Mortlock
Dr Fiona Nolan

London Metropolitan Police
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
Schools Improvement Health and Wellbeing, Islington Council
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust
National Offender Management Service
Islington Stop Smoking Service, Whittington Health
Trading Standards, Islington Council
University College London Hospitals
Camden Clinical Commissioning Group
Trading Standards, Camden Council
Smokefree Life Camden, Solutions 4 Health
Consumer Protection, Camden Council
Environment and Regeneration, Islington Council
Business Compliance, Camden Council
Islington Stop Smoking Service, Whittington Health
Trading Standards, Islington Council
Islington Clinical Commissioning Group
Culture and Environment, Camden Council
Schools Improvement Health and Wellbeing, Camden Council
Schools Improvement Health and Wellbeing, Camden Council
Camden and Islington NHS Foundation Trust

Page 91
Smokefree Camden and Islington Strategy 2016-2021

55

Contributors continued
Yogendra Parmar
Dr Louise Restrick
Vicky Smith
Jason Strelitz
Graham Tuck
Logan Van Lessen
Andrew Walker
Peter Wathen

Camden and Islington Local Pharmaceutical Committee
Whittington Health
Islington Stop Smoking Service, Whittington Health
Camden and Islington Public Health
Street Environment Services, Islington Council
Whittington Health
Environmental Health, Islington Council
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust

Design and Communications
Cheryl Westmacott

Miacis Media Consultancy Ltd
Communications Adult Social Care and Health, Camden
Council
Communications Strategy and Community Partnerships,
Islington Council

Sophie Hutchings
Kim Ward

Acknowledgments

Thank you to the many colleagues in Camden and Islington Councils and in Camden and
Islington Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) who commented on the draft strategy and
put forward suggestions about implementation.

Thank you to colleagues for their help in preparing a plain English summary and questionnaire
on the draft strategy and in engaging with the public. The questionnaire was published on We
Are Camden website and through Survey Monkey in Islington in December 2015 with help
from the following colleagues:
Mubasshir Ajaz
Qualitative information officer, Camden and Islington Public Health
Felicitie Walls
Fung-Yee Lee

Participation officer, Children and Young People’s services, Islington
Council
Strategy officer, Camden Council

Our intention is to engage with the public again in 2016 in order to develop the delivery plan for
this strategy.

Further information

Please contact Marina Chrysou (Camden and Islington Public Health/ Whittington Health) for
any further information:
marina.chrysou@islington.gov.uk
020 7527 6706

Page 92
56

Agenda Item C1
Chief Executive Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London N1 2UD

Report of: Assistant Chief Executive (Strategy and Partnerships)
Meeting of

Date

Agenda Item

Ward(s)

Health and Wellbeing Board

20 January 2016

Item C1

All

Delete as
appropriate

Exempt

Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Health and Work Programme – Update
1

Synopsis

1.1

This paper provides the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on progress in the
development of a Health and Work Programme for Islington, as agreed at its July 2015
meeting. This programme aims to improve employment outcomes for local residents with a
health condition or disability (and reduce costs to the public purse), by developing, testing
and learning from potential solutions to eight identified ‘system failures’. Over the last six
months a multi-agency programme structure has been established across the CCG, council
and local JobcentrePlus, with six strands of activity aiming towards a set of agreed
deliverables. A senior steering group has been established to provide leadership and
oversight for the programme.

1.2

The starting point for this programme is the large body of evidence highlighting the health
benefits of being in employment (and the negative health outcomes associated with
unemployment). While survey evidence suggests the large majority of people with a long
term condition or disability want to work, Islington has a very high level of health-related
worklessness. In response, a range of activities are either underway or planned to address
the identified ‘system failures’ and to improve the connections between the local health and
employment systems. This paper provides the Board with some highlights from that work, as
well as raising both some important challenges that need further work and some
opportunities on the horizon.

2

Recommendations

2.1

To note progress over the last six months in developing a local Health and Work Programme
for Islington; operating jointly across the council, CCG and local JobcentrePlus.

Page
93
1

2.2

To note future programme plans, including the forthcoming procurement of a service trial to
test a model of supported employment in primary and community care in partnership with
NHS England.

2.3

To note some particular issues, challenges and opportunities for the programme, and some
important changes in the wider policy environment following the recent government spending
review.

2.4

To advise on any further steps needed to achieve the aspiration for significant ‘system
change’, and thereby an improvement in health and wellbeing for a sizeable cohort of current
patients.

3

Background

3.1

At its July 2015 meeting, the Health and Wellbeing Board discussed the challenge of healthrelated worklessness in Islington and, in response, approved the establishment of a Health
and Work Programme for the borough, to coordinate and drive relevant activity across the
CCG, council and local JobcentrePlus. Six months on, the purpose of this paper is: to update
the Board on the development of the programme; to highlight early progress and significant
future plans; and to raise some particular issues and challenges.
Establishing a multi-agency Health and Work Programme for Islington

3.2

Building on considerable analysis and engagement undertaken during the first half of 2015,
colleagues across the CCG, council and local JobcentrePlus have worked together to define
and develop a Health and Work Programme for Islington. The agreed objective of the
programme is: to improve employment outcomes for local residents with a health condition or
disability (and reduce costs to the public purse); by developing, testing and learning from
potential solutions to eight identified ‘system failures’.

3.3

Progress towards the achievement of this objective will be assessed by a high level
outcome: Increase the number of people with long term health conditions who get into
work and improve their health measured by1:








Increasing the proportion of claimants with long term conditions or disabilities engaging
with employment support;
Reducing the number of people flowing onto workless benefits as a result of ill-health;
Increasing the proportion of ESA claimants entering work;
Increasing the proportion of ESA claimants sustaining work (up to 52 weeks);
Number of job outcomes paying the London Living Wage;
Improved well-being of people entering work;
Reduced costs: i.e. reducing the use of health services and/or benefits.

In addition, monitoring may also cover outcomes for specific groups such as those with
mental health conditions, disabilities, BME groups and parents. Mental ill-health is the major
reason for people claiming ESA, so it is suggested that the focus is on this group.
3.4

It is important to note that identifying outcome metrics which measure the right thing, and
which programme partners can collectively sign up to, is hampered by the limitations of
current data collection and by the difficulty of bringing worklessness and health data
together. Indeed, one of the symptoms of the system failures that the programme is aiming
to address is the absence of information connecting health and employment outcomes at
either an individual or population level.

1

These objectives and outcomes are due to be signed off by a meeting of the programme Steering Group on 11
January 2016.

Page2 94

th

The paper that came to the Board in July 2015 on health and employment described a set of
‘system failures’ which, it was argued, underpin poor employment outcomes for local
residents with a health condition or disability. Following further discussion and thought
across the partnership the following eight key ‘system failures’, organised by four strands,
have been identified as hypotheses to guide the programme, along with descriptions of a
desired future state we are collectively aiming towards:

Benefits and Assessments

Employment Support

Healthcare

Now

Employers

3.5

Future

1. There is no strategic focus on work in
the health care system, so engagement
of providers with employment outcomes
for patients is too low.

Health care providers engagement with
patients about work and with employment
services is high, with employment is
viewed as a clinical outcome –
underpinned by commissioning processes
and clinical leadership.

2. There is no consistent approach to
ensuring that HCP’s have the
knowledge, skills and pathways in place
to facilitate meaningful conversations
about returning to or staying in work.

Where appropriate, HCPs raise
employment with their patients and have
the knowledge and options to support them
to pursue it.

3. There is not enough of the kinds of high
quality employment support which is
likely to be effective in enabling
residents with a health condition or
disability to get and retain paid jobs.

There is an integrated and coherent local
system of high quality, health-focused
employment support, with the capacity to
meet local needs.

4. Too few residents with a health condition
or disability are engaged in employment
support, as part of an active journey
towards work and improved well-being
that they have confidence and belief in.

Far more local residents with a health
condition or disability are engaged with
employment support and empowered to
achieve their aspirations for work.

5. The FitNote is not connected to an
employment support pathway, risking
missed opportunities to keep people in
work (during sick leave) and support
them to make a rapid return (in the ESA
assessment phase).

The FitNote system is integrated with local
employment support, promoting early
intervention during the sick leave period
and in the initial stages of an ESA claim.

6. The WCA doesn’t identify what work
people could do or link to the support
needed to help them gain and keep
employment, while dominating energy
and focus among both residents and
HCPs.

Residents experience better follow up
support with health and work and, where
possible, burdens on GPs are reduced
(and in the medium term, an improved
assessment system is in place).

7. Too few local employers understand and
believe in the business benefits of
designing jobs and recruitment
processes that work for people with
health conditions and disabilities.

More local employers are committed to
recruiting a diverse workforce, with more
job opportunities for those with a health
condition or disability.

8. It is too hard for employers to access
practical, hands-on support that would
help them overcome barriers to
recruitment and to retaining staff when
issues arise.

Local employers are aware of and routinely
access the support they need to design
jobs to support diverse recruitment and
retain staff when issues arise.

Page
95
3

3.6

To keep the aspiration for ‘system change’ in focus each ‘system failure’ has a set of agreed
deliverables, actions and timescales to assess progress. There are also two cross-cutting
strands of activity, focusing on ‘insight & learning’ and ‘culture & behaviour change’
across the programme as a whole. All strands have a lead accountable person, working
within a ‘virtual’ multi-agency delivery team.

3.7

In addition, a steering group has been established to provide leadership for the programme
and oversight of its core activities. This group has senior representation from the CCG, the
council (including public health), local JobcentrePlus, a nominated lead GP, Camden &
Islington NHS Foundation Trust, Whittington Health and NHS England. We are also in the
process of recruiting a number of ‘experts by experience’ to be part of the programme
(including as members of the steering group, with appropriate training and support). This is
one element of a broader strategy for strengthening the role of citizen agency and the use of
co-production methodologies as essential elements of achieving real ‘system change’2.

4

Early progress and future plans

4.1

The Health and Work Programme for Islington is now ‘live’, with a wide range of activity
underway. Some of the highlights are set out below, picking out early progress and
significant future plans:

4.2

Engaging primary care with employment, starting with the Working Better service: this
service is now up and running, provided by Remploy, offering employment support in seven
primary care settings in Islington, via referral from GPs. Though relatively small scale, this
service is providing an invaluable opportunity to engage with primary care about employment
issues and to work through the practical, operational barriers to such engagement. Early
feedback suggests there is real enthusiasm and appetite amongst both GPs and practice
managers, based on their patients’ needs, when the terms of engagement are right for
healthcare professionals and services.

4.3

Considerable attention has been paid to using this service as an opportunity to embed
employment into the ‘wiring’ of the healthcare system, such as by creating recording in GPs’
MIS (EMIS) an EMIS code for referrals to Working Better (and, in future, other employment
services); incorporating employment support and benefits advice services into the ‘map of
medicine’; enabling the employment coach to add updates directly onto the patient’s medical
record (with work planned to assess whether this is happening in practice); and encouraging
the coach to present the service to a practice meeting as the first step towards the
integration of clinical treatment and employment support. Employment status is also to be
included in the Patient Held Record being developed by the Integrated Care Pioneer project.

4.4

Supporting healthcare professionals to engage with their patients about employment:
a range of activities are either underway or planned to encourage healthcare professionals to
(where appropriate) raise employment with their patients, recommend its potential benefits
for their well-being, and refer them to a service that could help3. This work is being led by the
CCG’s Employment Lead, with key activities including:




engaging with key local health services and their clinical leads about employment,
including offering training and information (and potentially identifying ‘employment
champions’);
developing an ‘employment pathway’ within the local healthcare system, based on
simple information and processes for healthcare professionals to refer patients to local
employment support services (via the ‘map of medicine’ and standard EMIS codes);

2

This work is being supported by two senior consultants via a pro bono contribution from the Leadership Centre.
This draws on the concept of the ‘5Rs’ which we are using to encapsulate HCP’s role in relation to employment. In
addition to raising, recommending and referring, the ‘5Rs’ include responding to questions from patients about work and
recording employment status and outcomes in patient records.
3

Page4 96






building a focus on employment into local integrated healthcare workforce training
programmes via the Community Education Provider Network (CEPN);
regular employment updates in the GP Bulletin and via other health provider intranet
sites;
collecting and disseminating success stories which highlight individuals with a long
term condition or disability who have thrived in employment; and
Ensuring that employment is a priority as part of the Making Every Contact Count
training.

4.5

Forging a more coherent ‘system’ of health-focused employment support in Islington:
in addition to Working Better, two further new employment services have recently begun
operating in Islington. Working Capital provides support to individuals on Employment and
Support Allowance (ESA) who finish the Work Programme without employment. The
programme is funded through the European Social Fund (ESF), is commissioned by Central
London Forward, and is provided by a company called APM. Future Ambition is a
programme to support young disabled adults into employment provided by SCOPE.
Employment coaches from both Working Capital and Future Ambition are embedded within
the council’s iWork service (operating from 222 Upper Street).

4.6

Along with Working Better, these services increase the capacity and diversity of healthfocused employment support in the borough. However, their addition further highlights the
need to achieve greater coordination and collaboration among this ‘family’ of services and
providers (not least so that the local system makes sense to local residents, healthcare
professionals and commissioners). As such, we are planning to: create an operational group
of the key health-focused employment services4; develop a basic service guide, with
eligibility criteria and referral options for healthcare professionals (as mentioned above); and
are working towards a common set of outcome measures and data collection across the
borough (including both employment and health/wellbeing metrics).

4.7

Identifying opportunities to boost the well-being and work focus of the FitNote and
Work Capability Assessment (WCA): these are key junctures where the employment and
health systems intersect, but which our initial work indicates are dominated by assessments
and bureaucracy, with missed opportunities to support people to gain or retain work and
improve their wellbeing. They can also cause real anxiety and concern for local people,
distracting them from a focus on employment and damaging their wellbeing. To better
understand these ‘touch points’ in the system and how they could be improved (within legal
constraints), we plan to engage with those who have direct experience of them. This
includes: local residents; GPs and other healthcare practitioners; those providing benefits
advice and advocacy services; JobcentrePlus Work Coaches; and those administering the
WCA. Through these engagements we will seek to better understand the issues with the
current system and identify opportunities to test out improvements to the way they operate in
Islington.

4.8

Promoting the benefits of diverse recruitment among local employers: the Islington
Aspires website (http://islingtonaspires.co.uk/) is now ‘live’ and being used as a hook for the
employer engagement activity. Within this, the focus on employment opportunities for local
residents with a health condition or disability is being deepened through a series of activities
to provide relevant information and guidance to local employer. This includes a roundtable
on unconscious bias in recruitment practices delivered in partnership with the Timewise
Foundation (which specialises in flexible job design), and a workshop with employer

4

This will initially comprise the providers of: Mental Health Working, Islington Aftercare, iWork, Working Capital, Working
Better, Future Ambition, Community Access Project, JobcentrePlus, Work Programme, Work Choice and (once it is up
and running), the supported employment (or IPS) trial. This group is chosen because either they are focused (heavily or
exclusively) on residents with a health condition or disability or they are commissioned (wholly or partly) by the
programme partners.

Page
97
5

engagement practitioners to equip them with the confidence and capabilities to support
disabled people and those with health conditions into work.

5

Upcoming issues, challenges and opportunities

5.1

Achieving meaningful ‘system change’ in the context of complexity will require a commitment
to testing, learning and adapting across the Health and Work Programme, including adopting
a critical mind set and a willingness to respond to opportunities as they arise. In that spirit,
this paper concludes with some important issues on the horizon and some particular
challenges that require further work:
Procuring supported employment in primary and community care

5.2

A big priority and challenge for the first half of 2016 will be to procure and mobilise a service
trial to test a model of supported employment in primary and community care. This will be
done in partnership with NHS England, who will procure an evaluator that will oversee a
Randomised Control Trial (RCT) framework to assess the impact of adopting the principles
of Individual Placement and Support (IPS) outside of secondary services and beyond those
with a serious mental health conditions.

5.3

Following an in-depth design and development phase, it has been agreed that the service
trial will aim to work with 500 local residents who are out of work with a long term condition or
disability over a two year period. People will access the service trial via referral from a GP or
other healthcare professional (or self-referral) with a provider who is integrated into primary
and community care services. NHS England has led the design of the trial, is leading the
ethical approval process (via Health Services Research Authority) and is developing and
commissioning the evaluation. The evaluator will be the main point of contact for the trial as it
progresses on a day-to-day basis in terms of research queries and Islington CCG will lead on
developing and procuring the service and will be responsible for managing and overseeing
the service, which could be through a newly appointed role if appropriate. It is the intention to
run the procurement process and the ethical approval process in parallel so that the trial can
commence as soon as possible. The current timetable aims to achieve contract award in
May 2016.
Information and Intelligence

5.4

Good information and intelligence is central to understanding needs and tracking system
outcomes. Current data capture, fragmented systems and barriers to data sharing amongst
employment and health care providers limits our ability to: (a) analyse the local population in
ways that illuminate the intersection between health and employment status (e.g. the history,
nature and intensity of health conditions among those who are out of work) and (b) monitor
and assess the impact of current services or interventions on employment and health
outcomes for individuals and at a population level.

5.5

We are seeking to improve this situation by: exploring the potential to link anonymised
employment data (e.g. DWP data) and health data to better understand the health status of
those not in employment and the impact of the support they receive; accessing more fine
grained local DWP data to understand the destinations of people coming off ESA; and using
the supported employment trial to develop a set of outcome measures and data collection,
covering both health and employment, which can then be used more widely to assess the
impact of local services.
Empowering the key actors

5.6

To date, the development of the programme has focused on the collaboration between the
three core partners (CCG, council and local JobcentrePlus). While crucial, this has
underplayed the agency of other actors in the system, in particular residents with health
conditions or disabilities (but also employers and health care professionals themselves)

Page6 98

which is essential for the programme to succeed. We have therefore established a
programme strand dedicated to promoting ‘culture and behaviour change’, though this
requires further development. Those involved in the programme have begun to think about
what it would mean to take co-production seriously, supported by our pro bono consultants
from the Leadership Centre. However there is much more to do, including an openness to
‘our’ hypotheses and solutions about the identified ‘system failures’ being proved wrong. One
initial step we have taken is to recruit for some ‘experts by experience’ to be involved in the
design and delivery of the programme, including to help us think through how to embed coproduction at its core.
Commissioning strategy
5.7

Drawing on the analysis and learning developed through the programme (including the
supported employment trial), we will develop a commissioning strategy for local healthfocused employment support. This will incorporate the re-commissioning of existing services
(Mental Health Working and Islington Aftercare) whose contracts run until 2017, but could
potentially be broader. Our aim is for this to provide a vehicle for embedding and
mainstreaming the insights and lessons from the programme, as well as being an opportunity
to work collaboratively with all local stakeholders, including residents and service users.

5.8

There is potential to consider the incorporation of Mental Health Working and Islington
Aftercare into the Adult Social Care Prevention Alliance proposals alongside in-house
employment offers in a similar manner to the links planned between specialist adult social
care advice services and the corporate advice offer. Links should be established with the
Realising the Value project within this workstream. This project led by Age UK Islington and
Adults Commissioning is creating an outcomes framework for preventative services
collaboratively between the Council, providers (particularly smaller voluntary sector
providers) and service users and carers.
Government spending review

5.9

The recent government spending review opened up a series of potential opportunities to
advance the objectives of the Health and Work Programme:






First, there was a commitment to jointly commission the Work and Health Programme
with London, for delivery from 2017, to replace the Work Programme and Work Choice
(which will primarily be for individuals out of work with a health condition or disability);
Second, £115m was allocated to the joint DWP/DoH Work and Health Unit, including a
£40m innovation fund, alongside extra funding for Access to Work and the Fit for Work
Service;
Third, there will be a White Paper published by summer 2016 that will set out further
reforms to reduce the disability employment gap and promote integration across health
and employment.

5.10 We will be using our strong existing relationships with DWP and NHS England to seek to
influence policy and funding decisions, including through London’s on-going devolution
negotiations with government.

6

Implications
Financial implications

6.1

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report. It is
anticipated that the trial with NHS England will cost up to £1m. NHS England will pay the
majority (particularly for the evaluation) and about a third of the cost will come from local
sources, local partners and/or external funds. It is worth noting that there is no recurrent
funding stream for a discrete health and work programme in Islington. It is anticipated that in
the long term the work outlined in this paper would lead to reduced public expenditure in

Page
99
7

Islington and so further consideration is needed of how partners can operate cost-benefit
arrangements that incentivise whole-system efficiency and represent value for money for the
public purse as a whole.
Legal Implications
6.2

There are no new legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report. Section
195 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires the Health and Wellbeing Board to
encourage integrated working. Specifically section 195 (1) provides that the Health and
Wellbeing Board must, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people
in its area, encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social care
services in that area to work in an integrated manner.

6.3

Section 195(4) further provides that the Health and Wellbeing Board may encourage persons
who arrange for the provision of any health or social care services in its area and persons
who arrange for the provision of any health-related services in its area to work closely
together. “Health-related services” means services that may have an effect on the health of
individuals but are not health services or social care services.
Equalities Impact Assessment

6.4

There are no new equality implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
Public bodies must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of
opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council,
health services and JCP have a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise
disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled
persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. Public bodies must
have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding.

6.5

No formal equality impact assessment has yet been published in relation to this programme.
Equality data from various sources is continuously being collected and analysed. The data
shows that disability has the worst employment outcomes of all the protected characteristics.
In addition, the analysis below shows that there is variation in access to services according
to ethnicity and this is likely to be the case for other protected
characteristics.

Page 100
8

6.6

There are also some groups such as Black males and gay males that are over-represented
in some areas of disability such as mental health and HIV and so it is important to ensure
that the proposed programme meets the needs of specific groups as appropriate. The
expectation is that the programme will reduce the significant and persistent inequality faced
by disabled people with different protected characteristics.

6.7

Islington CCG and NHS England will each be producing EIAs as part of the procurement
process and trial commencement.
Environmental Implications

6.8

There are no anticipated environmental implications arising from the recommendations.

7

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

7.1

In conclusion, this paper has provided the Board with an update on progress in developing a
Health and Work Programme for Islington, which aims to pursue ‘system change’ in relation
to health and employment. The aspiration is that such system changes will enable a
significant improvement in employment outcomes for local residents with a health condition
or disability; with the potential to being major social and economic gains for individuals,
public services and the wider community.

Background papers: None
Appendices: None
Final Report Clearance

Signed by

Received by

…………………………………………………………….
Lela Kogbara, Assistant Chief Executive,
Islington Council

…………………………………………………………….
Head of Democratic Services

24 December 2015
…………………..
Date

4 January 2016
………………….
Date

Report author: Graeme Cooke, Employment Commission Implementation Manager
(with input from various colleagues and partners)
E-mail:
Graeme.Cooke@islington.gov.uk

Page
101
9

This page is intentionally left blank

